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(FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company)

(Ngo Thanh Hai, Chairman of Board of Directors)

B1IA TTC

(Floor 9, TTC Building, Lot B1A, Light and small scale industrial
area, Duy Tan Street, Dich Vong Hau Ward, Cau Giay District, Ha
Noi, Vietnam)
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FPT
(New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund)
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SBI 049910 5,390,000 49
#15-01

9 Battery Road #15-01 Straits Trading
Building Singapore 049910

FPT 2,750,000 25

FPT FPT
FPT Building Duy Tan Street, Pham Hung
Road, Cau Giay District, Hanoi, Vietham
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Hanoi, Vietnam)
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Nguyen Huy Hoang

Ngo Thanh Huyen

FPT

Tran Minh Khoi

CFA BIDV
Ngo Thanh Hai
SBI FPT
IMC LotusIMC Fund
Vu Hoai Anh
SSC
18 2008 FPT

(Nguyen Thi Thu Nguyet) CEO
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New-S FPT  Capital Trust

FPT
2008 10 30
2019 30
1,675,068.87 183,303 67.95
822,350.64 89,990 33.36
2,497,420 273,293 101.30
(32,403) (3,546) -1.30

2,465,016.12 269,747 100.00
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2019 26
_. PHU NHUAN JEWELRY

JSC 58,486 0.96 56,333.06 4.3 251,631.08 10.21%
. MILITARY

COMMERCIAL JOINT

STOCK BANK 231,487 0.48 110,229.27 .94 216,900.93 8.80%
. VIET NAM DAIRY

PRODUCTS JSC 38,000 5.45 207,151.94 .58 212,000.34 8.60%
. REFRIGERATION

ELECTRICAL

ENGINEERING CORP 146,533 0.69 101,228.78 .37 200,281.50 8.12%
. HOA PHAT GROUP JSC 100,000 0.89 88,697.03 .44 144,416.74 5.86%
. FPT CORP 63,760 0.88 55,873.62 .13 135,790.76 5.51%
. BENTRE AQUA

PRODUCT IMPORT AND

EXPORT JSC 80,716 1.52 122,367.24 .65 133,393.36 5.41%
. PETRO VIETNAM

SOUTHERN GAS JSC 81,710 0.73 59,675.57 .55 126,431.70 5.13%
. PETROVIETNAM LOW

PRESSURE GAS

DISTRIBUTION JSC 68,419 0.83 56,451.68 .63 111,600.68 4.53%

10. BANK FOR FOREIGN
TRADE JSC 30,000 1.64 49,129.52 .92 87,552.65 3.55%



11.
12.
13.
14.

DAT XANH GROUP
DABACO CORP
VINGROUP JSC

THU DUC HOUSING
DEVELOPMENT CORP

60,000
107

3
959,228

1.18
0.93
1.62

0.73
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0.92
0.97
4.89
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54,929.94 2.23%
103.48 0.00%
34.21 0.00%
1.50 0.00%
1,675,069 67.95%
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2019 26
SOCIALIST REP OF 2019 7 15 6.9
VIETNAM 6.900% 07/15/19 19,000,000,000 917,318.47 866,503.02 35.15%

19,000,000,000 917,318.47 866,503.02 35.15%
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©)]
2019
1
( ) C ) ( ) )

2009 12 4,675,889.76 511,683 110.52 12,094

2010 12 3,581,867.84 391,964 90.86 9,943

2011 12 2,116,474.28 231,606 59.72 6,535

2012 12 3,181,090.42 348,107 69.34 7,588

2013 12 3,532,134.06 386,521 81.52 8,921

2014 12 3,418,371.60 374,072 83.90 9,181

2015 12 2,873,345.02 314,430 76.25 8,344

2016 12 2,736,228.41 299,425 74.55 8,158

2017 12 4,466,514.08 488,771 90.42 9,895

10

2018 12 3,128,313.32 342,331 79.71 8,723
2018 31 3,453,108.82 377,874 87.99 9,629
2018 29 3,237,441.12 354,273 84.43 9,239
2018 31 3,339,986.78 365,495 85.25 9,329
2018 31 3,388,155.55 370,766 86.28 9,442
2018 29 3,482,647.96 381,106 88.55 9,690
2018 10 31 3,268,386.70 357,660 83.10 9,094
2018 11 30 3,179,676.04 347,952 80.85 8,847
2018 12 31 3,128,313.32 342,331 79.71 8,723
2019 31 3,213,785.21 351,685 81.89 8,961
2019 28 3,277,106.67 358,614 84.54 9,251
2019 29 2,579,877.98 282,316 83.32 9,118
2019 26 2,465,016.12 269,747 82.90 9,072

()=

41/222



EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)

ooooodooodooodooodd

2008 10 2009 12 10.52
2010 2010 12 -17.79
2011 2011 12 -34.27
2012 2012 12 16.11
2013 2013 12 17.57
2014 2014 12 2.92
2015 2015 12 -9.12
2016 2016 12 -2.23
2017 2017 12 21.29
10 2018 2018 12 -11.84

*

(%) = 100 x (b-a)/a

a:

b:

100
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4

45,038 2,732 42,306
2009 12 45,038 2,732 42,306
1,923 4,809 39,420

2010 12 (1,923) (4,809) (39,420)
230 4,211 35,439

(2011 12 ) (230) (4,211) (35,439)
12,303 1,866 45,876

(2012 12 ) 12,303 (1,866) (45,876)
0 2,549 43,327

2013 12 0 2,549 (43,327)
883 3,470 40,740

2014 12 (883) (3,470) (40,740)
0 3,060 37,680

2015 12 (0) (3,060) (37,680)
1,100 2,079 36,701

2016 12 (1,100) (2,079) (36,701)
19,823 7,125 49,399

2017 12 (19,823) (7,125) (49,399)
10 2,991 13,147 39,243
2018 12 (2,991) (13,147) (39,243)
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2017 12 31

2019
1 109.43

53/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@
FPT FPT
2018 12 31
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
11 279,725 30,610 256,296 28,046
12 2,914,988 318,987 4,286,100 469,028
4,084 447 14,365 1,572
4,878 534 4,878 534

3,203,675 350,578 4,561,639 499,180

17 10,483 1,147 12,415 1,359
13 64,879 7,100 82,710 9,051
75,362 8,247 95,125 10,410

3,128,313 342,331 4,466,514 488,771

3,128,313 342,331 4,466,514 488,771

39,243 2017 49,399
14 79.72 8,724 90.42 9,895
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@
FPT
FPT
2018 12 31
2018 2017
84,713 9,270 97,752 10,697
403,150 44,117 (10,060) (1,101)
(584,088) (63,917) 881,765 96,492
(6,449) (706) (4,616) (505)
(102,674) (11,236) 964,841 105,583
17 (47,547) (5,203) (44,749) (4,897)
(15,551) (1,702) (14,259) (1,560)
(30,282) (3,314) (27,851) (3,048)
17 (60,000) (6,566) (60, 600) (6,631)
17 (18,646) (2,040) (17,549) (1,920)
17 (22,375) (2,448) (21,059) (2,304)
(21,570) (2,360) (18,325) (2,005)
(11,042) (1,208) (8,203) (898)
16 (26,523) (2,902) (21,098) (2,309)
(253,536) (27,744) (233,693) (25,573)
(356, 210) (38,980) 731,148 80,010
15 (2,815) (308) (5,009) (548)
(359,025) (39,288) 726,139 79,461
FPT
FPT
2018 12 31
2018 2017

4,466,514 488,771 2,736,228 299,425

(359,025) (39,288) 726,139 79,461

260,162 28,470 1,597,216 174,783
(1,239,338)  (135,621) (593,069)  (64,900)
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FPT
FPT
2018 12 31

2018 2017
(359,025) (39,288) 726,139 79,461
(403,150) (44,117) 10,060 1,101
584,088 63,917 (881,765) (96,492)
10,281 1,125 (9,315) (1,019)
(1,932) (211) 3,206 351
(17,831) (1,951) 8,809 964
(70,588) (7.724) (1,932,917)  (211,519)
1,260,762 137,965 1,298,891 142,138
1,002,605 109,715 (776,892) (85,015)
260,162 28,470 1,597,216 174,783
(1,239,338)  (135,621) (593,069) (64,900)
(979,176) (107,151) 1,004,147 109,884
23,429 2,564 227,255 24,869

256,296 28,046 29,041 3,178
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279,725 30,610 256,296 28,046

94,994 10,395 88,437 9,678

58/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FPT
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2018 12 31

FPT
2008 9 11
FPT
2008 11 11

2008 10 30
2018 2017 12 31
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25
15
70
10
30
10
IFRS
2019 15
(@(iii)
2018 IFRS IFRS
2018
IFRS 2018 IAS 39
IAS 39 IFRS 9
IFRS 9
IFRS
FVTPL
IFRS 9
IAS 39 2018
IFRS
IAS 39 IFRS IAS 39 IFRS
256,296 256,296
14,365 14,365
FVTPL 3,388,102 3,388,102
FVTPL 897,998 897,998

4,556,761 4,556,761
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82,710 82,710
95,125 95,125
@
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©
@
©
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50
FATCA
2010 18 2010
A
FATCA FATCA
2013
FFI IRS
FATCA FFI FFI
1GA 2013 11 29
1GA FFI
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2018 2017 12 31

2018 12 31
A3

2017 12 31
A3

2018 2017 12 31

2018 12 31
Ba3 857,748

2017 12 31
Bl 897,998

@
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2018 12 31 2017
®©
(O]
12
2018 12 31
4,486
2017 12 31 12,540
2018 12 31 857,748 2017 12 31
897,998 2017 12 31
(ii)
2018 2017 12 31
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
3,123,960 4,390,187
(1,939) (1,321)
3,122,021 4,388,866
2018 12 31
31,220 2017 12 31
43,889
11
Giii)
2018 2017 12 31
2018 12 31 2,057,240 2017 12 31 3,388,102
12 2018 N
25 2017 41 2018 12 31 25 2017 12 31

41
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514,310 2017 1,389,122
25 2017 41
10
( )
€)) -
2018 2017 12 31
2018 12 31
2,057,240 - 2,057,240
- 857,748 857,748
2,057,240 857,748 2,914,988
2017 12 31
3,388,102 - 3,388,102
- 897,998 897,998
3,388,102 897,998 4,286,100

®) -
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2018 12 31
279,725
4,084
283,809
10,483
64,879
75,362
2017 12 31
256,296
14,365
270,661
12,415
82,710
95,125
11
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
279,725 256,296
2018 12 31
74,837 2017 12 31 166,574
12
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
1,381,383 2,057,240 2,168,407 3,388,102
™ 917,318 857,748 917,318 897,998
2,298,701 2,914,988 3,085,725 4,286,100
(*)2018 12 31 26,308 2017 12 31 26,888
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 248,169 459,290
Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company 234,851 235,257

Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company 202,689 297,080
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Vietnam Construction & Import-Export Corporation 194,744 191,994
Refrigeration Electrical Engineering Corporation 194,451 267,785
Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank 193,986 217,579
Petrovietnam Gas Joint Stock Corporation 149,246 214,452
Bentre Aquaproduct Import and Export Joint Stock Company 139,801 106,631
FPT Corporation 115,927 139,410
Petrovietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Stock Company 111,133 112,982
Petrovietnam Southern Gas Joint Stock Company 106,318 89,953
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam 69,151 71,734
Dat Xanh Group 61,525 -
Petrovietnam Technical Services Corporation 35,109 145,493
Dabaco Group Joint Stock Company 110 129,150
Vingroup Joint Stock Company 29 162,286
Thu Duc Housing Development Corporation 1 29,577
Vietnam Container Shipping Joint Stock Company - 238,358
Vinh Son-Song Hinh Hydropower Joint Stock Company - 85,193
Petrovietnam Fertilizer and Chemical Corporation - 56,806
Masan Group Corporation - 50,663
Petrovietnam General Services Joint Stock Corporation - 37,101
Vietnam Joint Stock Commerical Bank For Industry and Trade - 31,749
Hung Vuong Corporation - 17,575
Sao Vang Rubber Joint Stock Company - 4

2,057,240 3,388,102
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2018 12 31 2017 12 31
401,806 562,881
387,970 634,158
263,137 321,062
234,851 235,257
202,689 297,080
194,744 191,994
194,451 267,785
IT 115,927 139,410
61,555 191,863
110 166,251
- 238,358
- 85,193
- 56,806
. 4
2,057,240 3,388,102
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
6.90 2019 15 857,748 897,998
13
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
17 14,500 18,750
17 4,208 13,991
17 5,049 16,790
17 7,000 7,000
1,939 1,321
19,060 16,550
7,123 4,308
FATCA 17 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO 17 2,000 -
64,879 82,710
14
2018 2017 12 31
2018 2017
49,399 36,701
2,991 19,823
(13,147) (7,125)
12 31 39,243 49,399
2018 2017 12 31
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3.00
10
10
(
)
25
(
)
15
16
2018 2017
7,000 7,000
4,878 4,878
4,463 3,516
FATCA 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO 2,000 -
4,182 1,886
26,523 21,098
17
@
0] -
2018 2017
60,000 60,600
16 7,000 7,000
FATCA 16 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO 16 2,000 -
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
13 14,500 18,750
13 7,000 7,000
FATCA 13 4,000 4,000

AMLCO/MLRO 13 2,000 -
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7,000
1.275
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2017 44,749 2018 12 31
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2018 2017
18,646 17,549
22,375 21,059
2018 12 31 2017 12 31

4,208 13,991
5,049 16,790
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15 883,142 2019
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capiial Trusi)
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Mote 31112018 nnzmm7

UsD LS

ASSETS

Cash and cash cquivalents 11 279,725 256,296
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 2914988 4,286,100
Dividends receivable 4,084 14,365
Prepaid expenses 4,878 4,878
Total assets 3.203,675 4,561,639
LIABILITIES

Management fee payable 17 10,483 12,415
Accrued expenses 13 64,879 82,710
Total liabilities 75362 95,125
EQUITY

Met assets attributable o unitholders 3,128,313 4,466,514
Tuotal equity 3,128,313 4,466,514
Met asset value per unit based on 39,243 units 14 79,72 90.42

(2017: 49,399 units)

The aecompanying notes are an infegral part of these fimamcial statemenis
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Balanced Fund {a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

208 7
Note  ysp USD

Dividend income 84,713 97,752
Met realised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 403,150 (10,060}
Met change in unrealised {loss)/gain on financial asseis ai

fair value through profit or loss (584,088) BE1,765
Met foreign currency exchange loss (6,449) (4,616)
Total (loss)/revenue (102,674) 964,841
Management fee 17 (47.547) (44,749)
Custody fee {15,551) (14,259)
Legal fee {30,282) (27,851)
Administration fee 17 {60,000) (60,600)
Agent member company fee 17 (18,646) (17,549)
Distributor fee 17 (22,373) (21,059}
Audit fee {21,570) {18,325)
Professional fec (11,042) (8,203)
Other operaling expenses 16 (26,523) (21,008)
Total operating expenses (253,536) (233,693)
Operating (Jossyprofit (356,210) 731,148
Withholding tax expense 15 (2,815) (5,009)
(Loss)/profit for the year (359.,015) 726,139

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Balamce at 1 January

Total comprehensive income for the year

(Loss)/profit for the year

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in
equity
Contributions and redemptions by unitholders:
Issue of units during the vear
Redemption of units during the year

Total transactions with owners

Balance at 31 December

018 w7
LS UsSD
4,466,514 2,736,228
(359,025) 726,139
260,162 1,597,216
(1,239,338) (593,069)
(979,176) 1,004,147
3,128,313 4,466,514

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these financial siatemenis
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trusi)
Statements of cash Nows for the year ended 31 December 2018

{Expressed in United Staies Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

{LossVprofit for the vear
Adjustments to reconcile (loss)profit for the year to net
cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:
Met realised (gain)loss on finencial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Met change in unrealised loss/{(gain) on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Decreasef(increase) in dividends receivable
(Decrease ) increase in management fee payable
(Decrease)/increase in accrued expensas
Purchase of financial asscts at fair value through profit or
loss
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Met cash provided by/{used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of units
Payments on redemption of units

Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalenis at | January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Supplementary information on cash lows from
operating activities include:

Dividend received

2018 2017
UsD UsD

(359,025) 726,139

{403,150) 10,060
584088  (881,765)
10,281 (9,315)
(1,932) 3,206
{17.831) £,809

(70,588) (1,932917)

1,260,762 1,298,891

1,002,605  (776,892)

260,162 1,597,216
(1,239,338)  (593,069)

(979,176) 1,004,147

13429 227255
256,296 29,041

179,715 156,296

94,994 88,437

The accompanying noles are an infegral parl of these finanicial stalements

761222
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1. Reporting entity

Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Wictnam Balanced Fund (formerly known a5 “New-5 Finansa Victnam
Balanced Fund™) (*the Fund™) is a series trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust (formerly known as “New-
% Finansa Trust™) (“the Trust™) established pursuant to a trust deed dated 11 September 2008, The
Trust is an umbrella unit trust and registered as a mutual fund under the Mutual Funds Law of the
Cayman [slands on 11 November 2008, The Fund commenced operations on 30 October 2008, The
Fund is registered with the Financial Services Agency of Japan,

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Fund had no employees.
{a) Trusiee

The Fund’s trustee is MaplesFS Limited (the “Trustee™) which is domiciled in the Cayman Islands,
The Trustee is licensed to carry on trust business pursuant to the provision of the Banks and Trust
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is a licensed administrator of mutual funds under the
Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands.

(b) Manager

The investment activities of the Fund are managed by FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
(the “Manager”). In 2013, the Manager was changed from Finansa Fund Management Lid. o FPT
Fund Management Joint Stock Company, an investment management company incorporated in
Vietnam in accordance with the Deed of Retirement and Appointment signed between the Trustee,
Finansa Fund Management Lid. (the previous manager) and FPT Fund Management Joint Stock
Company (the new manager) dated 22 April 2013.

(e}  Adminisiraior
The Fund's administrator is Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited (“the Administrator™), a
licensed mutual fund administrator, headquariered in the Cayman Islands, a duly appointed delegate
of the Trustee. The Administrator has delegated certain administration duties to Maples Fund
Services (Asia) Limited which is based in Hong Kong.

(d}y Custodian
The Fund’s custodian is Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Beanch.

ie)  Distributor and Agent Member Company
The Distributor and Agent Member Company is New-8 Securities Co., Litd., a company domiciled
in Japan. Under the signed Agent Company Agreement, Units Distribution and Repurchase

Apreement, Mew-5 Securities Co., Ltd. provides agent company member service and sales and
repurchases of units handling services,
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Serles Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Nuotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (contimued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

(N Investment objectives of the Fund

The Fund's investment objective i8 to provide unitholders with capital appreciation through
investments in the following securities:

* Debt securities issued by the Government and public organisations in Vietnam, deposits
(including money market products with high creditability and cash) with Vietnamese financial
institutions, which are assessed to be high creditworthiness;

*  Equity securities such as shares, convertible bonds, warranis and bonds with warrant and debt
securities issued by companies listed on the Vietnamese Stock Exchanges;

* Mutual funds listed on the Vietnamese Stock Exchanges;

*  Equity securitics such as shares, convertible bonds, warrants and bonds with warrant and debt
securitics issued by companies which are contemplating a listing on the Vietnamese Stock
Exchanges (provided that investments in unlisted shares are limited to 15% of the Fund®s net
assets); and

®  Equity securities such as shares, convertible bonds, warrants and bonds with warrant and debit
securities issued by companies listed on securitics exchanges other than the Vietnamese Stock
Exchanges il a substantial part of the assets of such companies or their sales are situated in or
derived from Vietnam,

{2} Investment restrictions of the Fund
The Manager is subject to the following investment restrictions:

®* The Fund shall not acquire the shares of any company if, as a result of such acquisition, the
total number of shares of such company held by the Fund would exceed 25% of the total
number of issued and outstanding shares of such company.

®  The Fund shall not acquire any investment which is not listed on an exchange or which is not
readily realisable if, as a result thereof, the total value of all such investments held by the Fund
would immediately following such acquisition exceed 15% of the value of its net assets,

® The Fund shall not acquire any equity interests of Vietnam shares, if as a result thereof, the
total value of all such investments held by the Fund would immediately following such
acquisition exceed 70% of the value of its net assets.

* The Fund shall not acquire or hold any investment in a single company in excess of 10% (or
5% in the case of an unlisted company) of the value of the net assets of the Fund,

* The Fund shall nol acquire or hold any investment in a single sector in excess of 30% of the
value aof the net assets of the Fund.

& The Fund shall not acquire or hold any investment in other listed mutual funds in excess of
10% of the value of the net assets of the Fund.

= The Fund shall not make a short sale of or buy a security on margin.

However, with regards to the ceiling ratio of above Fund's assets amount, the appreciation or
depreciation of market value may temporarily exceed such ratio.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes tiv the Minancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Basis of preparation

These financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“[FRS™).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustee on 15 May 2019,

Details of the Fund's significant accounting policies are included in Mote 6.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD™), which is the Fund's
functional currency.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis using the historical cost basis, except
for investments in securities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
are measured at fair value. The methods used to measure fair value are described in Note 6(g)(iii).

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method.

Changes in significant accounting policies

The Fund has initially applied [FRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9"} from | January 2018. A
number of other new standards are also effective from | January 2018 but they do not have a material
effect on the Fund’s financial position or performance.

IFRS 9 became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and replaced 1AS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (*TAS 397). IFRS 9 revises the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, general hedge accounting requirements and
carries forward the principles on recognition and derecognition of financial instraments. IFRS &
modifies the assessment of impairments to financial assets at amortised cost, introducing an expected
credit loss model replacing the previously applicable incurred credit loss model.

The changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are required to be applied
retrospectively with an exemption allowing entitics not to restate comparative period information
with respect to classification and measurement {including impairment) changes.

The Fund's investment portfolio continues to be classified as fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") and other financial assets continue to be measured at amortised cost.

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact to the Fund's financial position or

performance; however, various disclosures have been amended or included within these financial
statemenits,
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (s Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statemenis for ihe year ended 31 December 2018 {continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The following table explain the original measurement categorises under [AS 39 and the new
measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Fund's financial assets and financial
liabilities as at | January 2018,

Origination New Original carrying New carrying
classification classification amownt under amount under
USD under [AS 39 under [FRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Financial asscts
Cash and cash Loans and Amuorised cost
equivalent receivables 256,296 256,296
Dividends Losns and Amortised cost
receivables receivables 14,365 14,365
Listed equity Held for trading Mandatorily at
securities FVTPL 1,388,102 3,388,102
Debt securities Held for trading Mandatorily at
FVTPL £97 008 897 908
Total financial asseis 4,556,761 4,556,761
Financial liabilities
Management fee Other financial
payable liahilities Amortised cost 12,413 12,415
Accrued expenses Other Minancial
liabilities Amortised cosl 82,710 B2 710
Total finencial
liabilities 95,125 95,125

6. Significant accounting policies

Except for the changes mentioned in note 5, the Fund has consistently applied the accounting policies
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

(a) Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into USD at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreipn currencies are translated into USD at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Mon-monetary assets and liabilities demominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are also translated into USD at the exchange rale at the
reporting date.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss as nel foreign
currency exchange gain or loss excepl those arising on investments at fair value through profit or
loss which are included on net change in unrealised gain or loss on fair value through profit or loss
and net realised gain or loss on fair value through profit or loss.
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-8 FPT Capital Trust)
MNates to the Naanelal statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

(b} Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the right to receive payment is
estahlished. For quoted equity securities, this is usually the ex-dividend date. Dividend income from
equily securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss ina
separate line item, gross of any withholding tax.

(ch Interest income

[nterest income from debt securities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in profit or loss as part of gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Interest income is determined using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts, without consideration of future eredit
losses, over the expected life of the financial instruments or through to the next market based
repricing date to the net carrying amount of the financial instruments on initial recognition.

(d) (rains and losses from investmenits at fair value through profit or loss

Realised gains and losses on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss are calculated
using the weighted average method and unrealised gains and losses on investments at fair value
through profit or loss includes unrealised fair value changes. Gains and losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of comprehensive income.

(e} Fees and commission expenses

Fees and commission expenses are recognised in profit or loss as the related services are performed.

(n Tax

Under the current system of taxation in the Cayman Islands, the Trust is exempt from paying income
taxes. The Trust has received an undertaking from the Governor in Cabinet in the Cayman Islands
exempting it from all income, profits and capital taxes for a period of 50 years from the creation of
the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included in these financial statements.

Howewver, inlerest income on Vietnamese Government bonds received by the Fund is subject o
withholding tax. Income that is subject to such tax is recognised gross of the taxes and the
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as withholding tax expense,

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA")

On 18 March 2010, the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010 added chapier 4 1w
Subtitle A ("Chapter 4") of the US Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). The provisions in Chapter
4 are commonly referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"). US Treasury
regulations providing guidance on the due diligence, reponting, and withholding obligations under
FATCA were passed and came into effect in January 2013 (the "Regulations™).
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

The Regulations require foreign financial institution ("FF1") to provide the Intemal Revenue Service
("IRS"} with information on certain LS. persons invested in accounts outside of the 1.5, and for
certain non LLS. entities to provide information about any U.S. owners. The oblipations of an FFI
under FATCA may be modified by an Intergovernmental Agreement ("I1GA") between the US and
the FFI's country of organisation. The Cayman Islands entered into a Model 1 TGA on 29 November
2013, which provides for reporting and enforcement by FFIs to be facilitated by local authorities,
The Cayman Islands also entered into a similar IGA with the United Kingdom. Therefore, all Cayman
Islands domiciled “financial institutions™ are subject to domestic legislation and regulations that
implement both the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("US FATCA™) and its UK equivalent
("UK FATCA" and together, "FATCA"). The due diligence and reporling regimes introduced by the
domestic legislation and regulations apply to all such financial institutions irrespective of whether
they have US or UK based account holders and/or have US or UK assels or source income.

The Fund is a Reporting FI and has registered for a Global Intermediary Identification Number
(*GIIN™) as required under US FATCA. The Fund's registered GIIN is CZIXBY 99999 51136,

Finanmcial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

The Fund initially recognises financial assets at fair value through profit or loss on the trade date,
which is the date on which the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the date on which they are originated.

Classification
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the
Fund considers all the relevant information about how the business is managed. The Fund determined
that it has two business models.

Heid-to-collect business maodel: this includes cash and cash equivalents and dividends receivables.
These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow,

Other business model: this includes debt securities and equity securities. These financial assets are
managed and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Based on above assessment of business model, the Fund classifies its financial assets and liabilities
into the below categorics.

Firancial assets af fair vaiue throogh proft or doss: The Fund classifies all debt and equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss because il manages these instruments on a fair value basis in accordance
with its documented imvestment strategy. The Fund holds all investments for trading purposes and
the financial assets are classified as part of Civher business model. Internal reporting and performance
measurement of these securities are on a fair value basis.

Financial assets and latwites ot amortsed cost The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition,
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
rate method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus
any reduction for impairment.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vieinam Halanced Fund (a Scries Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

Financial assets at amortised cost includes cash and cash equivalents and dividends receivable,
Financial liahilities at amortised cost includes management fee payable and accrued expenses,
Policy applicable before 1 Januvary 2018

The Fund classifies all its investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category
and are considered to be held for trading. The financial instrument is classified as held for trading as
it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term.

Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost including
cash and cash equivalents and dividends receivables. Financial liabilities that are not measured fair
value through profit or loss are carried at amortised cost including management fee payable and
accrued expenses.,

(i} Measurement

Financial assets and financial liahilitics are measured initially at cost which is the fair value of the
consideration given or received.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 arc required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity's business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets,

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial asscts and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liahilities at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at cost and subsequently carried
al amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, except for redeemable shares, which is
measured at the redemption amount.

(fig)  dmpairmsent
The introduction of IFRS 9 replaces the model used to calculate impairments under [AS 39, which

was based primarily on incurred losses, with a model based on the expected credit losses. The scope
of the new model consistently includes all financial assets that are recognised at amortised cost.

The Fund assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The Fund recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each
reporting date.

The measurement of expected credit losses reflects:

*  An unbigsed and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

=  Thetime value of money; and

s  Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 Decem ber 2018 (continwed)
(Expressed in United States Daollars)

Derecognivion

The Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contraciual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Fund neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrving amount of the asset (or the
carrving amount allocated to the portion of the asset that is derecognised) and the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created
or retained by the Fund is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharped or
cancelled, or expired.

(MTsetting

Financial asseis and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Fund has a legal right to offset the amounts and it intends
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneousiy.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for realised pains and losses and unrealised gains
and losses on investments at fair value through profit or loss and foreign exchange gains and losses,

Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash at bank, term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less, and short-term, highty liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,

Redeemable units

The Fund classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in
accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments,

The Fund has one class of redeemable units in issue. This is the most subordinate class of financial
instruments in the Fund. The redeemable units provide unitholders with the right to require
redemplion for cash at a value proportionate to the unitholders” share in the Fund’s net assets al each
redemption date and also in the event of the Fund’s liquidation.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to repurchase or
redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity instrument if it meets
the following conditions:

= it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the entity’s net asseis in the event of the Fund’s
liguidation;
* itisin the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instrumenis;
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes (o the Minancial statements for the year ended 31 December 20018 (continwed)
(Expressed in United States Daollars)

& all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes af
instruments have identical features;

=  apart from the contractual obligation for the Fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for
cash or another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would
require classification as a liability; and

« the total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially
on profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value of the
recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund over the life of the instrument.

The Fund’s redeemable units meet all of these conditions and are classified as equity.

Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after | January 2018 and
carlicr application is permitted; however, the Fund has not carly applied these new or amended
standards in preparing these financial statements,

Of those standards that are not yet effective, there are no new standards which are expected to have
a significant impact to the Fund's financial position or performance.

Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these financial siatements, management has made judpements, estimates and
assumplions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates,

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognised prospectively.

Judgemenis
Determination of fanctional currency

“Function currency™ is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Fund
operates, If indicators of the primary economic environment are mixed, management wses its
Judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The Fund's investment portfolio are
denominated in VIND and other transactions are mainly denominated in USD. Investor subscriptions
and redemptions are determined based on net asset valee, and received and paid in USD. The
expenses (including management fee and administration fee) are denominated and paid in USD.
Accordingly, management has determined that the functional currency of the Fund is USD.
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Notes to the financial statements for the year emded 31 December 2018 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

9. Financial risk management

(a) Exposure

The Fund has exposure (o the following risks from financial instruments:
®  credit risk;
= liquidity risk; and
" market risks.

This note presents information about the Fund's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and
managing risk, and the Fund's management of capital.

(b) Rizsk management framework

The Fund maintains positions in a variety of non-derivative financial instruments in accordance with
its investment management strategy as mentioned in Note 1. The Fund's investment portfolio
comprise listed equity and deb securities.

Investing activities of the Fund expose it to various types of risks that are associated with the financial
instruments and markets in which it invest. The Fund manages these risks on an aggregate basis along
with the risks associated with its investing activities as part of its overall risk management policies.
The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the dates of the statement of the
financial position and the risk management policies employed by the Fund are disclosed below.

{¢)  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
or comm itment that it has entered into with the Fund, resulting in a financial loss to the Fund. 1t arises
principally from debt securities held and cash and cash equivalenss. For risk management reporting
purposes, the Fund considers and agpregates all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual
obligor default risk, country risk and sector risk]).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Fund had a significant portion of its individual counterparty
credit risk with the Custodian. The Fund seeks to mitigate its exposure to credit and counterparty risk
by placing its cash and transacting its securities with reputable financial institutions. The Fund does
not expect any losses as a result of this concentration. The Fund's maximuom credit risk exposure at
the reporting date is represented by the respective carrving amounts of the relevant financial assets
in the statement of financial position. Credit rating of the Custodian referenced to Moody s long term
deposit rating were as follows:

Credit rating
Custodian
31 December 2018
Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch Al
31 December 2017
Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch Al
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Notes (o the linancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

Management monitors the credit rating of its debt securities on a continuous basis. As al 3] December
2018 and 2017, the fair value of the Fund's debt securities referenced to Moody's rating were as

follows:

Credit rating Fair value

UsD
31 December 2018
Vietnam Government bond Bal 857,748
31 December 2007
Vietnam Government bond Bl 897,998

(d) Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or ancither financial asset,

The Fund's OfTering Memorandum provides for redemption of the unitz on the second business day
in each calendar week. The Fund™s Nnancial instruments include investments which are actively
rraded in Vietnamese Stock Exchanges. As a result, the Fund is able to liguidate quickly its
investments in these instruments at an amount close to the fair value in order to meet its liquidity
requirements. Accordingly, management considers the Fund's liquidity risk to be minimal.

Financial liabilities of the Fund as at 31 December 2018 are payable within three months
(31712200 7: three months).

(e)  Market risk

Maurket risk is the risk that changes in market prices — such as interest rates, foreign exchange rales,
equity prices and credit spreads — will affect the Fund's income or the fair value of its holdings of
financial instruments.

i) Imierest rate risk

The Fund is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of its financial instraments
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates, In respect of the Fund’s interest bearing
financial instruments, the Fund's policy is to transact in financial instruments that mature or re-price
in the short term — Le. no longer than 12 months. Accordingly, the Fund is subject to limited exposure
to fair value or cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market
interest rates.

The fair value of the debt securities in which the Fund invests are sensitive to changes in inferest
rates and market conditions within Victnam. As a result, the Fund is subject to fair value interest rate
risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. As at 31 December 2018, had
interest rate increased by 1% with all other variables remaining constant, the decrease in net assels
and increase in loss for the yvear would amount lo approximately USDE 486 (31/12/2017: decrease
in loss for the year would amount to approximately USD12,540). A decline of 1% would have an

equal but opposite impact.

The Fund’s interest-bearing instraments, being debt securities with carrying value as at 31 December
2018 of USDRST, 748 (31/1272017: USDEYT,998) have maturity of scven and a half months
(31/1272017: one and a half years).
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Motes to the fimancial statemenits for the year ended 31 December 20018 {continwed)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Currency risk

The Fund invests in assets and eams income denominated in Vietnamese Dong (“VND™).
Consequently, the Fund is exposed o the risk that the exchange rate of USD relative to VIND may
change in a manner which may have an adwerse effect on the reported value on that portion of the
Funds assets that are denominated in VNI,

Management may from time to time hedge the Fund’s currency exposure, If hedging can be taken on
commercially reasonable terms, but it may not always be practicable to enter info hedging
transactions on terms and conditions favourable to the Fund, and management is not obligated to
enter into hedging transactions.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Fund had outstanding foreign currency denominated assets
and liabilities as follows:

s 3nem?
UsDh UsD
equivalent  equivalent

Assets

Vietnamese Dong (“VIND™) 3,123,960 4,390,187
Liabilities

Wietnamese Dong (“VND™) (1,939) (1,321)

3,122,021 4,388,866

Exchange rate fluctuations and lecal currency devaluation could have a material effect on the value
of the Fund's investments. As al 31 December 2018, had the VND exchange rate strengthened by
1%4 with all other variables remaining constant, the increase in net assets and increase in gain for the
year would amount to approximately USD3 1,220 (31/1272017: the increase in net assets and increase
in gain for the year would amount to approximately 1ISD43 889). A decline of 1% would have an
equal but opposile impact.

All of the Fund's investments and cash and cash equivalents are held in YND, except for the cash
held by the Administrator, refer to Note 11,

Equity price rivk
The Fund is exposed to equity price risk as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, only to the extent of

investments in common stocks.

As at 31 December 2018, the market value of the Fund's listed shares is USD2,057,240 (31/12/2017:
USD3,388,102) (Mot 12). During 2018, the difference between the highest and lowest monthly VN
Index compared 1o the lowest point was approximately 25% (2017: 41%). Had the market prices of
these securities increased by 25% as at 31 December 2018 (31/12/2017: 41%) with all ather variables
remaining constant, the Fund's met assets would have increased and loss for the year would have
decreased by USDA14,310 {2017: the Fund's net assets and profit for the year would have increased
by USDI,389,122% A decline of 25% (2017: 41%) would have an equal but apposite impact.
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Maotes to the Mnancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
(Fapressed in United States Dollars)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilitics that are traded in active markets that the
Fund can access at the measurement date are obtained direcily from an exchange on which the
instruments are traded. For all other financial instraments, the Fund determines fair values using
other valuation technigues,

The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements,
* Level 1: Inputs that are quoted markel prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instriments.

= Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | thai are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than
active; or other valuation technigues in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

= Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technigue includes inputs not hased on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant cffect on the instrument’s valuation. This calegory includes instruments
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments but for which significant
unohservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its
entirely is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant lo the fair value
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair
value measuremnent in its entirety, Assessing the significance of a particular input o the fair value
measurement in its entirety requires judgments, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.
The determination of what constitutes “observable™ requires significant judgment by the Fund. The
Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly disiributed
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are
actively involved in the relevant market.

Fair value hierarchy = Financial instruments measured at fair value

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measwrement is categorised, The amounts
are based on the values recognised in the statement of financial position. All fair value measurements
below are recurring. The Fund did not recognise any transfers between levels of the [ir value
higrarchy at the reporting date, There was no level 3 investments held during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Tolal
UsD USD USD

Fimancial assets at fair value

through profit or loss:

Listed shares 2,057,240 - 2,057,240
Listed bonds - B57,748 B57.748
2,057,240 857,748 1,914,988
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MNew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Maotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dallars)

31 December 2007 Level 1 Level 2 Total
USD UsD USD

Fimancial assets at fair value

through profit or loss:

Listed shares 3,588,102 - 3,388,102
Listed bonds - 897,998 897,998
3,388,102 897,998 4,286,100

Fair value hierarchy — Financial instraments nol measared at fair value

The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are shont-term financial
assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-
term nature and, for the financial asscts, high credit quality of counterparties.

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instraments not measured at fair value and
analyses il by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is

categorised.

31 December 2018 Level 2
UsD

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 79,725
Dividends receivable 4,084

183,809
Financial liabilities
Management fee payable 10,483
Accrued expenses 64,879

75,362

2
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust)
Moles o the Minancial statements Tor the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued )
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

31 December 2017 Level 2
UsD
Financial assexs
Cash and cash equivalents 256,296
Dividends receivable 14,363
270,661

Financial liabilities

Management fee payable 12,415
Accrued expenses 2,710
95,125

Cash and cash equivalents

31122018 Jnzm?
UsD UsD
Cash at bank 279,725 256,29

As at 31 December 2018, included in cash and cash equivalents was USD74,837 held in a bank
account with the Administrator (31/1272017: USD166,574).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31122018 3z
UsD UsD
Cuost Fair value Cost Fair value
Investments in securities
Listed equity securities 1,381,383 2,057,240 2,168,407 3,388,102
Listed debt securities {*) 917318 857,748 917,318 897,008
2,298,7TN 2,914,988 3,085,715 4,286,100

As at 31 December 2018, the carrving amount of listed debt securities include accrued interest
receivable amounting to USD26,308 (31/1272017: USD26,888).

2
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (n Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Nates to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

Details of listed equity securities at the vear end were as follows:
31122018 Jnm?

Ush UsD

Listed equily securities

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company 248, 169 459,290
Phu Nhuan Jewelry Joint Stock Company 234,851 235,257
Hoa Phat Group Joint Stock Company 202,689 297 080
Vietnam Construction & Import-Export Corporation 194,744 191,994
Refrigeration Electrical Enginecring Corporation 194,451 267,785
Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank 193,986 217,579
Petrovietnam Gas Joint Stock Corporation 149,246 214,452
Bentre Aquaproduct Import and Export Ioint Stock Company 139,801 106,631
FPT Corporation 115,927 139,410
Petrovietnam Low Pressure Gas Distribution Joint Stock

Company 111,133 112,982
Petrovictnam Southern Gas Joint Stock Company 106,318 89,953
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam 69,151 71,734
Dat Xanh Group 61,525 -
Petrovietnam Technical Services Corporation 35,109 145,493
Dabaco Group Joint Stock Company 10 129,150
Vingroup Joint Stock Company 29 162,286
Thu Duc Housing Development Corporation 1 29577
Vietnam Container Shipping Joint Stock Company - 238,358
Vinh Son - Song Hinh Hydropower Joint Stock Company - 85,193
Petrovietnam Fertilizer and Chemical Corporation - 56,806
Masan Group Corporation - 50,663
Petrovietnam General Services Joint Stock Corporation - 37,101
Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank For Industry and Trade - 31,749
Hung Yuong Corporation - 17,575
San Vang Rubber Joint Stock Company - 4

2,057,240 3,388,102
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trost of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Details of investments in listed equity securities by industry at the year end were as follows:

93/222

J1Nzz0ns JinznT
UsD UsD
Investments in listed equity sccuritices, at fair value
Oil and gas related equipment and services 401,806 562,881
Food and tobacco 387,970 634,158
Banking services 263,137 321,062
Textiles and apparel 234,851 235257
Metals and mining 202,689 297,080
Construction and engineering 154,744 191,994
Machinery, equipment and components 194,451 267,785
Software and IT services 115,927 139410
Real estate operations 61,555 191,863
Holding companies 110 166,251
Transportation and infrastructure - 138,358
Electric utilities % 85,193
Chemicals - 56,806
Automobiles and auto parts . 4
2,057,240 3,388,102
Details of listed debt securities comprise at the year end were as follows:
JNE208 T
UsD Usn
Listed debt instruments
Vietnam Sovereign Bond
{(6.90% coupon rate, maturity 15 July 2019) B57,748 897,998
13. Accrued expenses
INX2018 Jnzam?
UsD UsD
Administration fee payable (Mote 17) 14,500 18,750
Agent fee payable (Note 17) 4,208 13,991
Distributor fee payable (Mote 17) 5,049 16,790
Financial stalemeni preparation fee payable (Mote 17) 7,000 7,000
Custody fee payahle 1,939 1,321
Audit fee payable 19,060 16,550
Interest withholding tax payable 7123 4308
FATCA fee payable (Note 17) 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO fee payable (Note 17) 2,000 -
64,879 82,710
24
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2018 (conlinuwed )
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Redeemable units
Movements in units for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
018 m7
Uniis Uniis
Issued and fully paid
Balance at 1 January 49,399 36,701
Issued during the year 2991 19,821
Redeemed during the year (13,147) (7,125)
Balance at 31 December 39,243 49399

The Fund is not subject o extemally imposed capital requirements,

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, Mew-5 Securities Co., Ltd., acts as nominee for total outstanding
unils in issue.

Subscription

Units will be available for subscription at the relevant purchase price applicable on each subscription
day.

The purchase price per unit will be the NAV per unit on the valuation day immediately preceding the
relevant subscription day plus a sales charge of up to 3.00% (excluding any applicable consumption
ta ) of such MAV per unil. The sales charge will be payable to the Distributor.

Redemption
Units may be redeemed on any redemption day at the request of the holder of such units,

The redempition price will be NAV per unit on the valuation day immediately preceding the relevant
redemption day less, as appropriate, the pro rata share of any unamortised organisational and offering
expenses attributable to the unit being redeemed.

Unless Manager otherwise determines, if aggregate redemption requests on any redemption day
exceed 10%, or such other percentage as shall be determined by Manager of the units in issue,
Manager may elect to restrict the total number of units which may be redeemed on the relevant
redemption day to 10% (or such other percentage as shall be determined by the Manager) of the
outstanding units on such date, in which case, requests will be scaled down pro rata and the balance
will be redeemed on the next following redemption day in priority to any redemption requesis
received on that date, subject always to further delay if redemptions on that date are restricted
pursuant to this power.

In addition, if the number of aggregate redemption requests in any calendar quarter exceed 25%, or
sich other percentage as shall be determined by the Manager of the number of units in issue on the
first redempition day in such calendar quarter (the “quarterly limit™), Manager may on any redemption
day in such calendar quarter elect to restrict the total number of units which may be redeemed in such
calendar quarter to the quarterly limit, in which case, requests will be scaled down pro rata and the
balance will be redeemed on the next following redemption day in the next calendar guarter in
prionity to any redemption requests received on subsequent dates, subject always to further delay if
redemplions on that date are restricted pursuant to this power,

25
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New-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-8 FPT Capital Trust)
MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (contimued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

15. Withholding tax expense

Under the current system of taxation in the Cayman Islands, the Fund is exempt from paying income
taxes. However, interest income on Vietnamese Government bonds received by the Fund is subject
to withholding tax. Income that is subject o such tax is recognised gross of the taxes and the
corresponding withholding tax is recognised as withholding tax expense.

16. Other operating expenses

2018 2017

Usp UsD
Fee for financial statements preparation 7,000 7.000
Governmenl expenses 4,878 4,878
Bank charge 4,463 3,516
FATCA fee 4,000 4,000
AMLCOMLRO fee 2,000 .
(thers 4,182 | .BB&

26,523 21,098

17. Significant transactions with related parties and other key contracts
(a) Related parties

(i)  Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited - the Administrator

2018 207
UsD Usn
Expenses
Administration fee (including a fee for trustee services) 60, ek &0, &00
Fee for financial statements preparation (Mote 16) 7,000 7,000
FATCA fee (Note 16) 4,000 4,000
AMLCOMLRO fee (Mote 16) 2,000 -
nzznE MhznT
UsD UsD
Liabilities
Administration fee payable (Mote 13} 14,500 18,750
Financial statement preparation fee payable (Note 13) 7,000 7,004
FATCA fee pavable (Note 13) 4,000 4,000
AMLCO/MLRO fee payable (Note 13) 2,000 -

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited is the Administrator of the Fund. The Administrator is
considered a related party due to being an affiliated entity of the Trustee. In accordance with the
Trust Deed, the Administrator is entitled to receive a monthly fee out of the assets of the Fund based
on an annualised sliding-scale rate, subject to a minimum fee of USDS,000 per month and USD7,000
per annum for the provision of administration services and preparation of the financial statements
accordingly. Administration fee is accrued on each Valuation Day and payable quarterly in arrears.

26
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New=5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Modes to the Minancial statemenis for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
{Expressed in United States Dollars)

FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company — the Manager

The Manager is considered a related party to the Fund due to its significant influence to the decisions
and operations of the Fund,

Management fee

The Manager is entitled to receive a8 management fee which is equal to 1.275% of the net asset value
per annum. Management fee will be accrued on each valuation day based on the net asset value of
the immediately preceding valuation day and is payahle quarterly in arrears. Management fee for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was USD4T,547 (201 7; USD44,749), Management fee payable as at
31 December 2018 was USD10,483 (2017 USD12,415).

Performance fee

The Manager is also entitled to receive a quarterly performance fee equal to 20% of the amount by
which the net asset value per unit at the end of the relevant quarter exceeds the highest of the net
assef value per unit as at the end of any of the preceding calendar quarters, or the initial issue price
of USS100 if it is higher, multiplied by the average number of units in issue during the relevant
quarter. Performance fiee for the vear ended 31 December 2018 was nil (2017: nil).

Other key contracts

New-5 Securities Co., Lid. - Agent Member Company and Distributor

018 7
UsD UsD
Expenses
Agent member company fee 18,646 17,549
Distributor fee 22375 21,054
MNN208 Jnzrem?
Ush usp
Liahbilities
Agent member company fee payable (Note 13) 4,208 13,991
Distributor fee payable (Note 13) 3049 16,790

The distributor fee and agent member company fee are accrued on each valuation day based on the
MAV of the immediately preceding valuation day and payable quatterly in arrears as follows:

Services Fee rates
Agency member company 0.5% NAV per annum
Distribution 0.6% NAY per annum

27
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Mew-5 FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (a Series Trust of New-5 FPT Capital Trust)
Motes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Subsequent events
For the period from 1 January 2019 to 15 May 2019, the Fund received redemptions amounting to
USSEE3,142 which include a redemption on 15 March 2019 of 6,800 units (approximately 18% of

total number of outstanding units) equivalent to US$582,719. The Manager determined not to elect
the restriction of up to 10% of total number of outstanding units on the 15 March 2019 redemption.

1B
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®
2018 12 31

1. VIET NAM DAIRY 48,000 5.45 261,666 5.17 248,169 7.93%
PRODUCTS JSC

2. PHU NHUAN JEWELRY JSC 58,486 0.96 56,333.06 4.02 234,851.15 7.51%

3. HOA PHAT GROUP JSC 152,000 0.89 134,819.48 1.33 202,688.50 6.48%

4. VIET NAM CONSTRUCTION 200,000.00 0.99 197,440.88 0.97 194,743.65 6.23%
& IMPORT-EXPORT JSC

5. REFRIGERATION 146,533 0.69 101,228.78 1.33 194,451.37 6.22%
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING
CORP

6. MILITARY COMMERCIAL JS 231,487 0.48 110,229.27 0.84 193,986.28 6.20%
BANK

7. PETROVIETNAM GASJSC 40,000 1.97 78,699.65 3.73 149,246.02 4.77%

8. BENTRE AQUA PRODUCT 80,716 1.52 122,367.24 1.73 139,801.09 4.47%
IMPORT AND EXPORT JSC

9. FPT CORP 63,760 0.88 55,873.62 1.82 115,927.27 3.71%

10. PETROVIETNAM LOW 68,419 0.83 56,451.68 1.62 111,132.96 3.55%
PRESSURE GAS JSC

11. PETRO VIETNAM 81,710 0.73 59,675.57 1.3 106,318.04 3.40%
SOUTHERN GAS JSC

12. BANK FOR FOREIGN TRADE 30,000 1.64 49,129.52 2.31 69,151.23 2.21%
JSC

13. DAT XANH GROUP 60,000 1.18 70,587.80 1.03 61,525.20 1.97%

14. PETROVIETNAM 46,300 0.58 26,768.20 0.76 35,109.01 1.12%
TECHNICAL SERVICES CORP

15. DABACO CORP - 98 1.01 99.14 1.12 109.78 0.00%

16. VINGROUP JSC 7 1.62 11.33 4.11 28.74 0.00%

17. THU DUC HOUSING
DEVELOPMENT CORP 3 0.73 2.19 (.44 1.31  0.00%
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1,307,519 1,381,383 2,057,240  65.76%
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2018 12 31

SOCIALIST REP OF

VIETNAM 6.900% 07/15/19
2019 15 6.90 19,000,000,000  917,318.47 857,748.07  27.42%

19,000,000,000  917,318.47 857,748.07 27.42%
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2019 26
I 2,616,643.36 286,339
T 151,627.24 16,593
i 1-11 2,465,016.12 269,747
v 29,733
v T 82.90 | 9,072
()

MaplesFS Limited
KY1-1104 309
(P.0. Box 309, Queensgate House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands)

)

)
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11,000,000

2012 2013
FPT JSC

2011 2012
FPT
CEO
2009 2011
FPT JSC CEO
2007 2009
FPT JSC CEO
2003 2006
FPT
2000 2003
FPT
1993 1999
FPT
2008 2010

1989 1993
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FPT

2011 2013
SBI

2010 2011
VN

2009 2010
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25

EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)

104/222

2008

SJC

2008

2015

2014
UFJ

2011

2018

2017

2016

2014

2014

2014

2014

2010

2010

2009
SBI

2009

12

10

10

12

0o00000000o0ooooood
2009
IMC

2008 12

SBI

2015

2014

SBI

SBI

2016 10
SBI

2016
SBI

2016
FPT

2016

SBI

2011

SBI

2014

SBI

2010 10

2016



210.64
FPT

FPT

FPT IT
FPT

FPT

EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)

(999,845

FPT
FPT

105/222

2009
SBI

2006
SBI

2005

1998

2007
) 2019

FPT

0o00000000o0ooooood
2009 12

2006

2005

11

FPT
FPT



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 2017 12 31
131
KPMG
KPMG Limited
2019 14
23,054 109.43
UFJ 100

0.47467
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2018 12 31 2017 12 31

5 6,075,553,043 28,839 6,109,866,223 29,002
153,439,297 728 153,057,673 727
6 422,712,484 2,006 329,368,634 1,563

7
11,960,000,000 56,771 7,146,100,000 33,920
983,855,330 4,670 855,896,320 4,063
8 106,572,065,217 505,866 115,281,004,278 547,204
9 - - 44,575,275,000 211,585
10  40,321,646,916 191,395 116,091,360 551
11 160,293,376 761 13,300,000 63
166,649,565,663 791,035 174,579,959,488 828,679
12 1,857,857,977 8,819 2,063,484,873 9,795
107,336,349 509 104,543,244 496
1,965,194,326 9,328 2,168,028,117 10,291
13 110,000,000,000 522,137 110,000,000,000 522,137
15,110,000 72 15,110,000 72
(639,210,000) (3,034) (639,210,000)  (3,034)
2.052,132,076 9,741 4,295,427,195 20,389
- - 2,243,295,119 10,648
2,052,132,076 9,741 2,052,132,076 9,741
53,256,339,261 252,792 58,740,604,176 278,824
164,684,371,337 781,707 172,411,931,371 818,388
166,649,565,663 791,035  174,579,959,488 828,679

2019
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@
FPT
2018 12 31
2018 2017
1,097,088,422 5,208 1,018,066,559 4,832
1,153,090,039 5,473 1,115,907,420 5,297
14 1,756,370,454 8,337 525,400,000 2,494
8,759,307,788 41,578 6,787,447,553 32,218
888,450 4 7,627,365 36
15  (18,866,888,639) (89,555) - -
4,813,900,000 22,850 2,511,600,000 11,922
(1,286,243,486) (6,105) 11,966,048,897 56,799
(4,766,306,461) (22,624) (4,554,789,585) (21,620)
(59,193,534) (281) (36,855,002) (175)
16 (1,615,816,553) (7,670) (1,659,634,963) (7.878)
(6,441,316,548) (30,575) (6,251,279,550) (29,673)
(7.727,560,034) (36,680) 5,714,769,347
27,126
17 - - (307,110,820) (1,458)
(7.727,560,034) (36,680) 5,407, 658,527 25,669
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5,407,658,527 25,669
5,407,658,527 25,669
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31
1
110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639, 210,000) 2,243,295,119  2,052,132,076  58,740,604,176  172,411,931,371
522,137 72 10,648 9,741 278,824 818,388
- - - - (7,727,560,034)  (7,727,560,034)
- - - - (36,680) (36,680)
- - (2,243,295,119) - 2,243,295,119 -
- - (10,648) - 10,648 -
31
110,000,000, 000 15,110,000 (639, 210, 000) - 2,052,132,076  53,256,339,261  164,684,371,337
522,137 72 - 9,741 252,792 781,707
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2017 1
110,000,000,000 15,110,000 (639,210,000) 2,243,295,119 1,117,934,400  54,267,143,325  167,004,272,844
522,137 72 (3.034) 10,648 5,306 257,590 792,719
- - - - - 5,407,658,527 5,407,658,527
- - - - - 25,669 25,669
- - - - 934,197,676 (934,197,676) -
- - - - 4,434 (4,434) -

2017 12 31
110,000,000,000 15,110,000 (639,210,000)  2,243,295,119 2,052,132,076  58,740,604,176  172,411,931,371
522,137 72 (3.034) 10,648 9,741 278,824 818,388
2019
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FPT
2018 12 31
2018 2017
(7,727,560,034) (36,680) 5,407,658,527 25,669
59,193,534 281 36,855,002 175
(4,813,900, 000) (22,850) (2,511,600,000) (11,922)
10,107,580, 851 47,978 (6,787,447,553) (32,218)
. . 307,110,820 1,458
(2,374,685,649) (11,272) (3,547,423,204) (16,839)
(100,176,159) (476) (82,795,118) (393)
(381,624) ) 30,469,594 145
(150,172,607) (713) 1,113,257,575 5,284
(2.625,416,039) (12,462) (2.486,491,153) (11,803)
(182,097,930) (864) (340, 665,824) (1,617)
8,894,473,560 42,219 5,130, 623,831 24,354
6,086,959,591 28,893 2,303,466, 854 10,934
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FPT
2018 12 31
2018 2017
(225,800,352,000) (1,071,807) (100,000,000, 000) (474,670)
194,176,879,778 921,699 57,423,472,222 272,572
25,708,386, 361 122,030 - -
(206,186,910) 979 i} i
(6,121,272,771) (29,056) (42,576,527,778) (202,098)
(34,313,180) (163) (40,273,060, 924) (191,164)
6,109,866,223 29,002 46,382,927,147 220,166
6,075,553,043 28,839 6,109,866,223 29,002

113/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019

114/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FPT
2018 12 31

FPT
2007 25 18/ UBCK- GP
2013 16
25/GPDC-UBCK

B1A TTC

2018 12 31

2018 12 31 2017 12 31

FF

50,000,000,000 100 50,000,000,000 100

FPT

2018 12 31 FPT 13 2017 12 31 12

@
IFRS
2019

®)

FVTPL
FVOCI

©

@
FPT

O

4(a) (i) FPT
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FPT

FPT

FPT

(ii)
2018 12 31

W)

©)
2018

(b) IFRS
()
IFRS
IFRS
39
IFRS

FPT

40)
IFRS FPT

(i)

IFRS IAS 39

IFRS
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FPT
2018

2018 12 31

FvoCl
IFRS
IFRS

4(c)

FvoCI

IAS 39
12
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(iii)
IFRS

-FPT
2017 IFRS
IAS 39

I FVTPL
| FvOCI
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FPT
2018 12 31
(iv)
IAS 39 2018 1 FPT
IFRS
1AS 39 IFRS
1AS 39 IFRS
- @) FVOCI
44,575,275,000 44,575,275,000
- (b)  FVTPL FVTPL
7,146,100,000 7,146,100,000
©
115,281,004,278 115,281,004,278
©
116,091,360 116,091,360
©
329,368,634 329,368,634
6,109,866,223 6,109,866,223
173,557,705,495 173,557,705,495
546,904,965 546,904,965
546,904,965 546,904,965
IFRS FPT 4@) (i)
(@) 1AS 39 FVTPL
FPT
IFRS FPT FVOCI
1AS 39
(b) 1AS 39 FVTPL
IFRS FVTPL

© 1AS 39
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FPT
2018 12 31

(©)IFRS 15
IFRS 15 IFRS
15 IAS 11 IAS 18
FPT IFRS 15
2018
2017 IAS 18 IAS 11

IFRS 15 2018 12 31 FPT
IFRS 15 FPT

@
0]
FPT FPT

FPT
FPT

FPT

(iii)
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(b)

(©

2018

FPT

FPT

FVTPL
FVOCI

2018

FPT

FVTPL

(d)
FPT
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C)

®

(@)

FPT
(iii)
FPT

FPT

()
@)

(ii)
FPT
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(iii)

(h)
FPT

0)

FPT
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2018
FPT

FPT

FPT

2018 1
FPT

FPT

(iii)
2018

FVOCI
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FPT

FVTPL

FVOCI FVTPL

FPT

FVTPL

FVTPL FVOCI

FVTPL
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FVOCI

FVOCI

2018
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FVTPL

(iv)
FPT

FPT

2018
@ (ii)

FPT

FPT
FPT

v)
FPT

IFRS FPT

(vi)
FPT

FPT

FPT

FPT
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FPT

FPT

FPT
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FPT

FPT

(vii)
2018
FPT

n FvOCI

FPT
12

12 12

FPT

FPT

FPT FVOCI

FPT FPT

FPT FPT
FPT
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m FVOCI

IAS 39

2018
FPT

FPT

FPT

FPT
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(K)
FPT

0]
()

()

2011
125/2011/7T-BTC
2011 125/2011/TT-BTC

10

(m)

FPT
FPT FPT

(n)
2018 12 31
FPT FPT

IFRS 16
IFRS 16
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IFRS 16  IAS 17 IFRIC sic 15
- sic 27
IFRS 16 2019 IFRS 16
IFRS 15 IFRS 16
FPT IFRS 16
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
2,367,529,755 1,593,532,890
3,708,023,288 4,516,333, 333
6,075,553,043 6,109,866,223
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
- 128,287,500 -
286,413,891 322,193,634
8,011,093 7,175,000
422,712,484 329,368,634
1,783,367,506 1,690,023,656
(1,360, 655,022) (1,360,655,022)

422,712,484 329,368,634
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Hoang Anh Gia Lai Agricultural
Joint Stock Company

Hoang Anh Gia Lai Agricultural
Joint Stock Company

2017 12 31

2018 12 31
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2018 12 31
747,500 25,500,000,000 11,960,000,000
2017 12 31
747,500 25,500,000, 000 7,146,100,000
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
106,562,065,217 115,271,004,278
10,000,000 10,000,000
106,572,065,217 115,281,004,278
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10.
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
40,205,555,556 -
116,091,360 116,091,360
40,321,646,916 116,091,360
11.
2018 12 31
103,208,600 197,190,000 300,398,600
206,186,910 - 206,186,910
309,395,510 197,190,000 506,585,510
103,208,600 183,890,000 287,098,600
51,213,534 7,980,000 59,193,534
154,422,134 191,870,000 346,292,134
- 13,300,000 13,300,000
154,973,376 5,320,000 160,293,376
2017 12 31
103,208,600 197,190,000 300,398,600
103,208,600 147,034,998 250,243,598
- 36,855,002 36,855,002
103,208,600 183,890,000 287,098,600
- 50,155,002 50,155,002
- 13,300,000 13,300,000
2018 12 31 2017 12 31 103,208,600
103,208,600
12.
2018 12 31 2017 12 31

1,333,333,333 1,333,333,333

184,284,916 546,904,965

82,500,000 -
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257,739,728 183,246,575
1,857,857,977 2,063,484,873
13.
110,000 10,000
2018 12 31 2017 12 31 SBI
Pte. 49 FPT 25 SBI
Pte. FPT
14.
2018 2017

1,756,370,454 525,400,000
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15.
2018 2017
18,866,888,639 -
16.
2018 2017
504,532,224 501,253,536
191,410,714 253,983,376
165,550,000 165,000,000
754,323,615 739,398,051
1,615,816,553 1,659,634,963
17.
O
2018 2017
- 307,110,820

- 307,110,820
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18.
@
()
FPT

(ii)

FPT

®)

FPT
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2018

(7.,727,560,034)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2017

5,714,769,347

(1,545,512,007)
88,639,567

1,456,872,440

1,142,953,869
81,271,684
(977,656,029)

60,541,296

307,110,820

2018 12

11,207,818,656

31

2,241,563,731

2017 12 31

6,166,751,574 1,233,350,315

FPT

FPT
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(O]
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
} 1,783,367,506 1,690,023,656
6,075,553,043 6,109,866,223
146,767,620,773 115,271,004,278
126,091,360 126,091,360
154,752,632,682 123,196,985,517
@)
FPT
FPT
FPT
IFRS
FPT
2018 12 31 2017 12 31

422,712,484 329,368,634
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FPT
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
1,360,655,022 1,360,655,022
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©

FPT FPT
FPT
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FPT
2018 12 31
2018
12 31
12 12
266,784,916 266,784,916 99,098,440 167,686,476 -
2017 12
31
12 12

546,904,965 546,904,965 287,144,479 259,760,486 -

139/222



EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FPT
2018 12 31
@
FPT
(i)
FPT
2018 12 31
FPT
(i)
FPT FPT
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
2,367,529,755 1,593,532,890
150,475,644 ,061 119,787,337,611
152,843,173,816 121,380,870,501
FPT
100 1,222,745,391 2017
971,046,964
Giii)
FPT FPT
FPT
FPT
FPT FPT
2018 12 31 FPT 11,960,000, 000 2017 12 31
7,146,100, 000 2018 12 31

669,760,000 2017 12 31 400,181,600
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FPT
2018 12 31

19.
@

2018 12 31

™
™

™

@) -

11,960,000,000

6,075,553,043
146,767,620,773
422,712,484

126,091,360

266,784,916

EDINETOOOO
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OOooooooooooooooooOo

- 6,075,553,043
- 146,767,620,773
- 422,712,484
- 11,960,000,000
- 126,091,360

- 266,784,916
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FPT
2018 12 31
2017 12 31
- 6,109,866,223 - - 6,109,866,223  6,109,866,223
*) - 115,271,004,278 - - 115,271,004,278 115,271,004,278
*) - 329,368,634 - - 329,368,634 329,368,634
* - - 44,575,275,000 - 44,575,275,000 44,575,275,000

7,146,100,000 - -
(@) - 126,091,360 -

7,146,100,000 7,146,100,000
126,091,360 126,091,360

™ - - - 546,904,965 546,904,965 546,904,965

™) FPT
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FPT
2018 12 31

®

FPT
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2018 12 31
11,960,000, 000 - 11,960,000, 000
2017 12 31
Q) - 44,575,275,000 44,575,275,000
7,146,100,000 - 7,146,100,000
2018 12 31 FPT
11,960 2017 12 31 7,146
>
2017 12 31
2017 12 31

44,575,275,000
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20.
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
FPT
6,000,000,000 6,000,000,000
20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT
1,850,000,000 1,850,000,000
20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT
84,275,053,776 84,366,083,776
- 87,451,529
FPT
960,655,022 960,655,022
2018 2017
FPT
20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT
20,000,000 20,000,000
FPT
510,000,000 698,224,554
752,715,110 590,509,834
1,636,594,710 1,552,947,761
21.
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
151,826,827 501,446,400
- 151,826,827
151,826,827 653,273,227
22.
@
Q)
2018 2017
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(7,727,560,034) 5,407,658,527
(ii)
2018 2017
12 31
10,945,000 10,945,000
Gii)
2018 2017
(706) 494
()

2019
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FFT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018
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3122018 ) B Fell) )
Muote YND VND

Assels
Cash and cash squivalents 3 6,075,553,043 6,109,866,223
Prepayments 153,439,207 153,057,673
Fee and other receivebles (i1 422,712, 484 329,368,634
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss 7 11,960,000,000 7,146, 100,000
Current tax assets QR 855330 855,896,320
Oihier current assels 8 106,572,065.217 115,281,004,278
Equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income [ . 44,575,275,000
Orher non-current assets T 40,321,646,916 116,091,360
Eguipment, fixtures and fiings 1L 160,293,376 13,300,000
Total assets 166,649,565 663 174,579,950 488
Liahilities
Orher payables 12 1,857,857.977 2,063,484, 873
Current tax liabilities 107,336,349 104,543,244
Taotal liahilities 1,965 194 326 2, 168,028,117
Equity
Share capital 13 110,000,000,000 1 10,000,000,000
Share premivm 15,110,000 15,1 10,000
Treasury shares (639,210,000) (639,210, (N0
Reserves 2,052,132,076 4,295.427.195
Fair value reserve . 2,243 295 119
Statutory reserves 2,052, 132,076 2,052,132,076
Retained camings 53,156,339,261 58,740,604,176
Total equity 164,684,371,337  172,411,931,3T1
Total equity and liahilities 166,649, 565,663 174,579,959 488

Prepared by: 1{ /,- \;N by:

e ANG TY y
A i [ cO Pranh ul!
-~ (ﬂ"( *| kN LY I
<l Lol BAUTY 5
Vo Hosi Anh % 78 7o Ny
Accounting Manager = {Thief iive Officer

3 June 2019

The geeompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial stalements
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

EDINETOOOO
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year

ended 31 December 2018

Income

Fund management fees

Portfolio management fees

Fees from other services

Interest income

Chher aperating income

Loss on disposal of equity secorities s Fair value
through other comprehensive incoms:

Met changes in fair value of financial assets at fair
vilue through profit or loss

Total (loss)/income

Orperating expenses
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amonti saficn
Other expenses

Total operating expenses
{LossWprofit before tax

Income tax expenses

i{Loss)profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Fair value reserve

Met changes in fr value of financial assets al far
value throigh other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive {lossiincome for the year

{Loss)/profit atiributable to ordinary shareholders

[ Losses Vearnings per share
Basic {lossespearnings per share (VNI share)

Preparcd by:
e

Vi Hoai Anh
Aceounting Manager

3 June 2019

Mot

2ins 07
VND VND
1,097,068 422 1,018,066559
1,153,080,039 1115907 420
1,756,370,454 525,400,000
8,759,307 788 6,787,447 553
888 450 7,627 365
{18,866 888 630)
4,813,000,000 2.511,600,000
(1,286,243 4860 11,966,048 897
(4,766,306,461) {4,554 789, 585)
(59, 193,534) i 36,855,002)
(1615,816,553) {659,634, 963)
(6,441,316,548) 6,251,279 550)
(7.727,560,034) 5.714,769 347
- (307.110,830)
(7.727,560,034) 5,407,658,527
(7,727,560,034) 5.407,658,527
(7,727,560,034) 5,407 658527
494

The accompanying netes are an integral part of these eonsolidated financial stateaieirs
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018

{Indirect method)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

{Loss)profit for the year
A jiestmenis for:
Depreciamion
Changes in fair value of financial assets al Gair value
threugh profit or loss
MNet loss/iprofity from investing activities
Income tax expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Fee and other receivables

Prepayments
Other payables

Income tax paid
Interest received

Met cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Placements of deposits at banks with terms to maturity
exceeding 3 months

Withdrawals of deposits at banks with terms to maturity
exceeding 3 mounths

Proceeds from sale of equity securities s fair value through

other comprehensive income
Acquisition of equipment, fixtures and fittings

Met cash Mows from investing activities

Met increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
(Note 5)

Prepared by:

- ,."[

e

Vi Hoah Anh
Acconnting Manager

3 June 2019

2018 2017
VYND V&D

(7,727 560,034) 5,407 658,527
59,193,524 36,855,002
{4,813,900,000) (2,51 1,600,000)
10,107 520,851 (6,787,447 533)
. 307,110,820

(2,374,685 ,649) (3547 AL3,204)
(100, 176.159) (32795, 118)
[381.624) 30,469,594
(150,172,607) 1,113,257.57%
{2,625.416,039) [{2,486,491,153)
(182,097,930) [340,665,824)
8,804,471 560 5,130,623, 831
6,086,959 591 2,303,466,854

o o |

(225,800,352,0000 {10,000, 000, 000
194,176,879,778 57423472222
15,708,386,361 =
(206, 186,910) =
(6,121,272,771) (42,576,527,778)
(34, 313,180) (40,273 000,924)

i, 10, 866,223 46, 382027,147
6,109,866,223

The accompanying rodes are an fntegral part of these comsalidared financial statements
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FFI Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Naotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

These notes form an integral part of, and should be read in conjunction with, the accompanying
consolidated financial stalements,

Reporting entity

FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Comipany (“the Company™) is o joint stock company incorporited
in Vietnam under the estabhishment and operation license No. 18/UBCK-GP dated 25 July 2007
issued by the State Securities Commission, with the most recent amendment by the amended License
Mo, 2HGPRC-UBCK dated 16 August 2013 issued by the State Securities Comumission on changing
the Company's Head Office.

The Company's Head Office is located at % Floor, TTC Building, Lot B1A, Light and Small Scale
Industrial Area, Duy Tan Strect, Dich Vong Han Ward, Cau Giay District, Hanoi.

The principyl activities of the Company are carrying cut investment activitiey in Vietnam, minaging
entrusied investment funds and investment portfolios of entrusting clients and carrying out investment
advisary activities,

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had ons subsidiary as follows:

3122018 RN lpl ] i)
Contributed % of equity  Contributed % of equity
Country of capital owned and capital owned and
incorparation voting rights voting rights
YND % VNI %
FF Investment
Limited Wietnam 50,000,000, 000 RO S0, 000,000,000 100%:

The principal activities of the subsidiary are carrying out invesiment activities in Vielnam, merger
and acquisition advisory activities and corporate governance advisory activities,

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and s subsidiary (heremafier
collectively referred 1o as “FPT Capital™).

Asat A1/122008 FPT Capital bad 13 employees (317122007 12 employees).

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial stalements have beem prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

These consolidated financial stalements were authorised (or issue by the Company’s Board of
Management on 3 June 2019,

10
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the yvear ended 31 December 2018
(continued )

(b} Basis of measurement

These consoliduted financial statements have been prepared on the historcal cost basis except for the
following material items in the consolidued statement of financial position:

*  financial assets ot fair valoe through profit or loss are measored at fair valee CFVTPL™); and

®  financial assets ai fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCT”) are measored at
fair value.

The consolidated stement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method.

ic) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidmed Anancial statements are presented in VND, which is the Company’s functional
curmEncy.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

In preparing these consolidated financial siatements, management has made judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of FPT Capital’s accounting policics and the reported amouanis
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o estimates are
recognised prospectively,

(1) Judgwients L
Information about judgments made i applying accounting policies that have the most significant 'I'-'F
effects on the amouniz recognised in the consolidated financial staslemenis is set oul below, 3
Devermiriing comtrol over hivvesiees S‘
Management applies its judgment 1o determinge whether the control indicators set out in Note 4{u)(i) #

indicate that FPFT Capital controls an investiment lund.

FFT Capital acts as the fund manager for a number of invesimeni funds. Defermining whether FPT
Cupital controls such investment fund usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic
intcrests of FPT Capital in the fund {comprising any carried interests and expected management fees)
and the investors” rights 1o remove the fund manager. For all funds managed by FPT Capital, the
investors are able 1 vole by simple majority 1o remove FPT Capital as the fund manager withouwt
cause, and FFT Capital’s aggregate economic inlerest in esch case is the management fee (from 0.5%
to 1% of entrusted principal). As a result, FPT Capital hus concluded that it acts as an agent for the
investors in all cases, and therefore has not consolidated these funds.

(i} Assumptions and extimation uncertainfies

Information about assumptions and estimation unceriainties that have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment in the year ended 31 December 2018 is et out below in relation o the
impatrment of financial instraments and in the following notes in relation o other areas:

* recognition and measurement of provisions: key assamptions about the likelibood and magnitude
of an cutflow of resources (Note 4(h)).
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes o the conselidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

3. Change in accounting policies
(a) Change in presentation of the consolidated statement of financial position

Before 1 Janwary 2018, the Management presenied the consoldated Ginancial position by separating
current and non-current assets and liakilities. From 1 Janoary 2018, the Management presented the
consolidated financial position based on liguidity of assets and ligbilities in order to provide more
relevant information to financial statements. As a result, comparative information has been re-
presented 1o confonm with current year's presentation.

There was no material impact on FPT Capital’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 as a resuli of the application of change in presentation of the consolidated
statement of financial position.

{b)  IFRS % Financial Instrumenis
(i} Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 includes three principal classification categories for financial 2ssets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FYOCT) and fair value through profit or loss
{“FVTPL"). The classification of financial assets under IFRS is generally based on the business model
in which o financial assets is managed and its conteactoal cash flow characieristics. IFRS 9 eliminates
the previous International Accounting Standard  (“[AS™) 39 calegories of  held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivabbes, and available-for-sale financial assets. Under IFRS 9, derivatives
embedded in contracts where the host is a finaneial usset in the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated.
Instead, the hybrid financial instrament as a whole is assessed for classification.

For an explanation of how FPT Capilal elassilies and measures Minancial assets and accounts for
related guins and losses under IFRS 9, see Motes 4(7) and 4{c)

IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on FFT Capital’s accounting policies for financial linbilities.

T B AL

(it)  Impairment of financial asvets

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss™ model in TAS 39 with a forward-looking “expected credit loss™
model, The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt
investments at FVOC] and lease receivables, Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than
under LAS 349,

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

o 12-month BECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date: and

»  Jifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continued)

(mi)  Transifion

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied
prospectively, except as described below:

FPT Capital has taken an exemption not to restate comparative information for prior year with
respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements. Accordingly. the

information presented for 2017 does not generally reflect the requirements of [FRS 9 but rather
thase of LAS 39,

- The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed
at the date of initial application:
= the determination of the business mode] within which a financial asset 15 held.

* the designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and
fimancial liabilities as measored at FVTPL.

= the designation of certain investments inegquity instroments not held for rading as at FYOCLL

o e g
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FPT Fund Management Juint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2018

{continued)

(e} IFRS 15 Revenge from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes 0 comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. It replaced [AS 11 - Constraction Contracts, IAS 18 - Revenue and related
interprefations.

FPT Capital has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical expedients)
with the effect of nitially applying this standard recogmised at the date of inibal application {i.e |
January 2008). Accordingly, the information presented for 20017 has nod been restated ie it is
presented as previously reported under IAS 13, IAS 11 and related interpretations.

There was no material impact on FPT Capital’s consolidated financial sistements for the year ended
31 December 2018 as a result of the application of IFRS 15. [FRS 15 did not have a significant imipact
on FPT Capital's accounting policies.

4. Significant accounting policies
{a) Basis of consolidation
(i)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by FPT Capital. FPT Capital controls an entities when it is exposed
toy, or hus rights 1o, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability o affect

o

those retufns through its power over the invesize, FPT Capital reassesses whether it hos control if ""
there are changes (o one or more of the elements of contrel. This includes circumstances in which N
protective rights held become substantive and lead 1o FPT Capital having power over an invesiee. %
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the conselidated financial state ments from the ;_

date on which control commences until the date when control ceases.

{fi) Loss of control

When FPT Capital loses contrel over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assels and liabilities of the
subsachary, Any resulling gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any imerest retuined in the former
subsichary 15 measired @ fair value when contral is lost,

(itf) Transactions elfiminaied on consolidation

Intra-group halances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) ansing from nlra-group transactions, ane eliminated in preparing
the consalidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the smme way as wnrealised
gains, bt anly to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(by  Revenus

Revenue includes fees from fund management, investment portfolio management and fees from other
services, Revenue is recognised when it transfers control over service to o customer. Revenue is
measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behall of third parties.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Nuotes to the consolidated fMinanclal statements for the year ended 31 December 2008
{contimued)

Interest income and interest expenses
Interest income: and expense are recognised in profit or loss osing the effective interest method.

Froin I fanuary 2008

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and
receipis through the expected life of the Nnancial azset od liahility to the gross carrying amont of the
finuncial asset or the amortised cost of the fimancial liability. The gross camying amount of & financial
asset 15 ils amortised cost before adjusting foe any loss allowance.

Financial assets mot  If the financial asset is not credit-impaired, then interess income is caleulated
credit-impairsd on by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
il recognition wssel. When calculating the effective interest rate, FPT Capital estimates !
future cash Mlows considering all contracisal terms of the assei bui not I
expected credif loss. !

If the fimancial asset hos become credit-impaired subseguent to imitial
recognition, then interest income is colculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverls to the gross basis,

Financial assets Interest income i culeulated by applving a credit-adjested effective imerest

credit-impaired on rate to the amortised cost of the ussel, The credit-adjusted effective inenzst

imitial recognition rate is calculmted using estimited future cash Nows including expecied credit
loss, The caloulation of interest incoms does not revert to the gross basis gven A
if the credit of the assel improves,

Financial lisbiliies  Interest expenses are calcubated by applying the effective interest rute 1o the "
amortised cost of the linbility, When calculating the effective interest mie,
FPT Capital estimates future cash flows considenng all contraciual izrms off )
the linbility. =

The calculation of ihe effective interest rate includes all fees and points paid or received thot are an
imtegral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incrememal costs that are directly
aitributable (o the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or hobility.

Interest revenue on financial assets ned measured at FVTPL and ether finance costs presented in profit
or loss included interest on financial assets and financial labilitkes measured at smortised cost and
debt investments meosured at FVOCI caleulated on an elfective interest basis,

Before | January 2018

The effective inicrest rate was the rate that exasctly discounts the estimated Tuture cash puyments and
receipts through the expected life of the finnncial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shoner
period) 1o the carrying amount of the financial nsset or liability. When caloulating the effective interest
rate, FPT Capital estimated future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
imstrament, but not future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rute included all fees and points paid or received that were an
integral part of the effective interest rate, Transaction costs meluded incremental costs that were
directly attributable to the scquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability,

Interest revenue on financial assets not measured al FVTPL and other finance costs presented in profit
or loss included interest on fnancial assets and fnancial labilites measured at amorised cost and
availabla-for-sale financial assets calculated on an effective interest basis.
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FPT Fund Management Joini Stock Company
MNotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued )

(Hher revenue from investment activities

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that FFT Capital®s right 1o receive payment
is established, which in the case of quoted securities 15 normally the ex-dividend date.

Met gain from financial instruments at foir valoe through profit and loss includes all realised and
unrealised fair value changes, but excludes interest and dividend income.

Lease payment

Payments made under eperating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the werm of the bease. Lease mcemtives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease
expense, aver the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance cxpenss
and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated o each period during
the lease term 3o as 10 produce a constani periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liabality.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lemse paymeits over the
remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed

Income fax expense

Income tax expense comprises corrent and deferred tax. 1t is recognised in profit or loss except 1o the
exieni thai it relaics to o business combination, or lems recognised directly i equity of in olher
comprehensive income.

Current fax

Current tax is the expecied tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rotes enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment (o tax payable in
respect of previous years,

Deferred fax

Dieferred tax is recognised in respect of lemporary differences between the carrying amoumts of asseis
and liabilities For financial reporting purposes and the amounts used (or laxation purposes,

Dieferred tax is not recognised for:

*  emporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or habilities o a transaction that is not
o husiness combination and that affects neither accounting nor axable profit or loss; and

»  emporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probakle that
they will mat reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred lax assets are recogmised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be utilised. Defermed tax assets are reviewed ot each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assels are reassessed al each reporting date and recognised to the catent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used.

Dieferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied 1o temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continued})

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the 1ax consequences that would follow the manser in which
FPT Capital expects, at the reporting date, 1o recover of settle the carrving amount of ils assets and
liabilities.

{iii) Tax exposures

In determining the amount of comrent and deferred tax, FPT Capital considers the impacit of tax
exposures, including whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on
cstimates and assumptions and may volve a senes of judgmenis about future evems. Mew
information may become gvailable that causes FPT Capital to change its judgment regarding the
adequacy of existing tax liabalities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expenses in the year
in which such a determination is made, '

() Equipment, fixtures and fittings

i}  Recognition amd measirement
Ierms of equipment, fistares and Mitings ane measired ol cost less accumulated depreciation and any
sccumulated impairment losses.

Caost includes expenditure that 1s directly attnbutable to the acqusition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly atiributable
1o bringing the assets to g working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

When paris of an siem of equipment, Nxtores and fitlings have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate ilems (major components) of equipment, fxiores and finings

e il

The carrying amount of an wem of equipment, fisiures and Nining 13 derecogrized on disposal or when
no future economic benelits are expected from its wsed or disposal. Any guin or loss on disposal of
an item of equipment. fixiures and fittings (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from
disposal and the carrying amount of the item) 15 recognised in profit or loss.

fif) Subsequent costs r

Subsequent expendiiure is included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separale asset,
as approprate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
expenditure will flow to FPT Capital and the expenditore can be measured reliably. Ongoing repairs
and maimenance are charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
{iii) Depreciation

Diepreciation is culculated to write off the cost of items of equipment, fixtures and fittings less their
estimated residual valves using the straight-line method over their estimated wseful lives, and 15
generally recognised in profit or loss.
The extimuted useful lives of propeny, plant and equipment are as Tollows:

# Eguipment A -5 years

= Fixtures und fittings 2 -3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual value are reviewed ot cach reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(contimed)

{h) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, FPT Capital has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an ouiflow of economic benefits will
be required 1o settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expecied fulure cash
fows at o pre-tax rate that reflects curment market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

(i Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original 1erm (o maturitics
of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject 1o an insignificant risk of changes in
their fair value, and are wsed by FPT Capital in the management of its shomt-leom commitments.

Cash and cash equivilents are carried an amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
pasition.

(j)  Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i} Recognition
FPT Capital initially recognises deposits with financial institutions and loans and receivables on the
date on which they are oniginted. All other financial instruments (including regular way purchases

and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which FPT Capital
becomes a pany to the contraciual provisiens of the instrumen,

A financial asset or Ninancial liability is measured initially a0 Fair valoe plus, lor a financial asset or
financial hability wot measored at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are direcily

attributuble toits acquisition or isswe, Transaction costs of Dnancial assets carned at fair value through g

profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss, I:"

(i) Classification B
i

Financial assets

From [ Jannary 2018

FPT Capatal claszifies its financial assets in one of the following measuremem categories:
*  (hose to be measured at amortised cost;

& those 1o be measured at foir value through other comprehensive ineoime; and
* those 1o be measurcd at fair value through profit or loss,

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, unless FPT Capital changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which all affected financial assets ane reclassified
on the first day of the Ninancial reporting period following the change in the basiness model

A Nnancial asset is measured w amortised cost il it meets both of the Following conditions and is not

designated as at FYTPL
* it 5 held within a business mode! whose objective 15 1o hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

* it contractual terms give rise on specified dutes (o cash Mows thot e solely payments of
principal and inierest on the principal amoun outstanding.

161/222



EDINETOOOO

O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)

FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated Mnancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(eontinued)

A financial assel is measored at FYOCL if it meets both of the following conditions and is mot
designated as at FYTPL:

= it is held within a business model whose ohjective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial asseis; and

* it5 contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of wn equity investment that is nod held for trading, FFT Capital may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCL This election is made on an investment-bry-
investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVYOC] as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, FPT Capatal
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCT as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Before 1 January 2018

FPT Capital classifies its financial assets in one of the following categones:
= lpans and receivables;

=  held-to-maturity;

= available-for-sale; or

= ai fair value through profit oF loss, and within the category as:

- held for trading: or
- designated at fair value through profit or loss,

Financial liabilities
FPT Capital classifies its financial habilities as financial liabilities measored at amortised cost.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
MNotes to the consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2018
{continued)

(iif) Subsequent measurement and gaing and lossess

From 1 January 2018

The foliowing accounting policies apply to the subsequent messurement of financial assets and
financial liabilites:

Financial assets m These assets are subsequently measured at fuir value. Net guins and losses,

FYTPL including any interest or dividend income and foreign exchange gains and
losses, are recognised in profit or loss,

Financial assets af These asseis are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

amonised cost effective interest method, The amortised cost 15 reduced by impairment

losses. Imerest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profil er loss.

Db investments at These assets are subsequently measured at far valve. Interest income

FVOCI calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss, Other wet gains and
Insses are recopnised in OC] and accumulated in the fair value reserve, On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in (K1 are reclassilied (o
profie or loss.

Equity investments s These assets are subsequently measured a0 Fair valoe, Dividends are

FVOCI recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend cleary
represents i recovery of pant of the cost of the investment. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in OC] and are never reclassified to profit or H
loss. »

Financial habilitics st~ These habalitics arc subscquently measured at amortised cost using the

amartised cost effective interest method, Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains L
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on il
derecognition is recognised in prodii or loss,

Before I January 2018

The following accounting policies apply 1o the subsequent measurement of financial assels;

Financial assets al These asseis were subsequently measured ot fair valoe. Net guins and

FYTPL losses, including any interest or dividend wncome and foreign exchange
gauins and losses, were recognised in profin or loss.

Held-to-maturity These assets were subsequently measured &t amortised cost wsing the

investmenis effcetive interest method,

Loans and receivables  These assets were subsequently measursd at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Available-for-sale These asseis were subsequently measured at fair value, Inierest income

financial assets was calculated wsing the effective inlerest method, Dividends, foreign
exchange pains and losses and impairment were recognised in profit or
loss. Other net gins and losses were recognised in OCHand accumulated
in the fuir value reserve. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated
in OCI were reclassified to profit or loss.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2018
{continued)

(iv)  Derecogmition

Financial assets

FPT Capital derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights 1o the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it ransfers the rights 1o receive the contrmetual cash fows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of cwnership of the financial assel are transferred or
in which FPT Capital neither transfers nor retwins substantially afl ef the sisks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asssts.

On derecognition of o financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the assel derscognised] ol the date of derecognition, and
the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtuined less any new liabiliy
assumed) and (i) any cumulative guin or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profil or loss,

From | January 2018, any cumulaiive gamn/loss recogmised in olher comprehensive income n s pect
of equity investment securitics designated as at fair valee through other comprehensive income is not
recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities as explained in Node $()00m).

Any intenest in fransfeoned finuncinl assets that qualify for derecognition that 1= created or retained by
FPT Capital ix recognised as a separate asset or liability.
Financial liabilitics

FPT Capital derecognises a linancial liability when itz contraciual obligations are discharged, or
cancelled or expired, FPT Capital also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash fows of the modified hability are substamtially different, in which case a new finuncial

linbality bused on the modified 1erms is recognised at fuir value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carying amount extinguished \:

and the consideration pard (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) 13 .
recognised i profit or loss, )

)

(v)  Offsetting -
L}

Finuncial assets and hiabilities are offset and the net amount presented b the consolidated staterment >

aof financial position when, and only when, FFT Capital has o legal right to set off the amounts and it
iniends either to setile on a net hasis or to realise the asset and seitle the hability simullaneousiy.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permatted under IFRSs, or for gains or
Insses arising from a group of similar transections such as in EPT Capital's trading activities.

{vi) Fair valoe measurement

Fair vulue is the price that would be received 1o sell an assei or paid io iransfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence,
the most advaniageous market to which FPT Capital hus access at that date. The fir value of a lubiliny
reflects its non-performance risk,

‘When available, FPT Capital measures the fair value of an instroment using the quoted price in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or labiliny
take place with sufficient frequency and volume o provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there 15 no quoted price 0 an active marked, then FPT Capital uses valuation technigues that
maximise the wse of relevont observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inpus, The

chosen valuation technique mcorposates all of the factors thi market panicipants would take into
account in pricing a transaction,
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continued

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument @t initial recognition is normally the
transaction price — i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If FPT Capitul determines
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the foir value is evidenced
neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valvation
technigue that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially
measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition
and the mransaction price. Subsequently, that difference iz recognised in profit or Joss on an
appropriale basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation i wholly
supported by observible market dita o the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or o liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then FPT Capital
mensures nssets and long positions at a hid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial labilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk
that are managed by FFT Capital on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk ane
measured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or paid 1o ransfer
a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level sdjustments are allocuted to
the individual assets and lakilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of ench of the individual
instruments in the portfolio,

FPT Cupital recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hicrarchy as of the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Listed securittes

When available, FPT Capital measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an
uetive markes for that instrument. A market is regarded as active il iransactions for the asset or liability
take pluce with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis,

Undisted securitiex

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then FPT Capatal uses:

*  Avergge price based on the gquotations from at lenst three (03) large securities conmpanies.

*  Valuation technigues that maximise the use of relevant ohservable inpats and minimise the use
of unobservable inpuls. The chosen valuation technigque incorporates all of the fictors that market
participants would take into account in pricing i transaction,

Depesits at banks

N W -

The fair value of & demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from
the first date on which the amount could be required to be pasd

{vii) Identification and measurement of impairment

From 1 January 2008
FPT Capital recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss on:

«  Financial assets measured af amortised cost;
o Debtinvestments measwred at FYOCTL and
s Lease receivables

FPT Capital measures loss allowances at an amount equal o life time expected credit loss, except in
the following cases, for which the amount recognised is 12-month expected credit loss:

& Debt securities that are detenmined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
s (her financial instruments (other than lease receivables) for which the credit nsk has ot
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Steck Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continwed)

Life time expected credit loss ane the expected credin boss that results from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrament, whergas | 2-month expected credit boss are the portion
of expected credit loss that results from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date.

In all cases, the maximum period considercd when estimating expected credit loss is the maximum
comtractual period over which FFT Capital is exposed to credit risk.

Measuremeni of expected credit loss

Expected credit loss are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and are measured as follows:

=  TFinancial asset= that are not credil-impaired at the reporting date: the present value of all future
cash shorlulls = 1. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that FPT Capital expects 1o receive; and

= Financial assets that are credi-impaired an the reporting date: the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of future cash flows.

Expecied credit loss are discounted o the effective interest rate of the finencial asset.

Credit-impoired financial assers

At each reporting date, FPT Capital assesses whether linancial assets carmed o1 amortised cost and
debt securities at FVOCT are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the fingncial asset have
occurred,

Ohbjective evidence that a financial psset is credit-impaired includes the following observable dota:

= significant finencial difficalty of the borrower or issuer,
® 1 hreach of contract such as a defauh or delinguency by o harmower;

= he disappearance of an active market for a security becawse of financiul difficulues; or

*  ohservable data relating 1o o group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of
borrwers of issuers in FPT Capital, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in FPT
Capatal.

= the restructuring of an amount due to FPT Capital on terms that FFT Capital would not otherwise -y
consider; z

® it becoming probable that the borrower or issuer will enter bankroptcy or other financial \
renrganisation; j

'F."‘_

&

Presenfation of impairmnent
Loss allowances for expected credit loss are presented as follows:
* financial assets measured at amortised cost: the loss allowance is deducted [rom the gross
carrying amouni of the assels; and
*  debt securities measured at FVOCT: the loss allowance is recognised in OC] and does not

reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated stasement of finuncial
position.

Impairment losses related 1o other receivables, including contract assets, are presented separately in
ithe consohdated statement of profit of loss and OCT,

Impairment losses on other financial assets are presented under finance costs, similar to the
preseriation under 143 39, and not presented szparately in the consolidated statemeant of profit or loss
and OCT due 1o matenality considerations.

24

166/222



EDINETOOOO
O00OO00O00000000000000n0O0n0goooooonoan(E27577)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
MNotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(comtinued)

Before | January 2018

Al each reporting date, FFT Capital assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets
net measured at fair value through profit or loss were impaired. A linancial asset or a groop of
financial assets was impaired when ohjective evidence demonstrated that a loss event had oocurred
alter the initial recognition of the assets, and that the loss event had an impact on the future cash flows
on the assets thil could be estimated reliably, This assessment was similar 1o determining whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired {see above).

Impairment losses on flinancial assels were recognised as follows:

Financial assets st FPT Capital considered evidence of impairment for these assets at both

amaortised cost individual asset and collective levels, All dividually significant assets were
individually assessed for specific impairment. These found not to be
specifically impaired were then collectively mssessed for any impiirmemt that
had been incurred bur not yer identified. Assets that were not individually
sigmificant were collecuvely assessed For impairment by grouping ogether
assets with similar nsk charactenstics,

I assessing collective imparment, FPT Capital used historical information on
the toming of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and made an
adjustment if curment sconomic and credit conditions were such that the actusl
losses were likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss was calculated as the difference between an asset’s
carrying amouni and the present value of the estimuted future cash Dows
discounted at the assct's onginal effective interest rate. Impairment losses
were recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account, When
FPT Capital considered that there were no realistic prospects of recovery of
the asset, the relevan amounts were written off. I the amount of impairment
loss subsequently decreased and the decrease was related objestively 10 an
event occurring wfter the impairment wax recognised, then the previously
recognised impainment loss was reversed through profit or loss.

Available-for-zale  Impairmeni losses on available-for-sale fimancial assets were recogmised by

financial assets reclassifying the losses accummulated in the fair value reserve inequily 1o profil
or loss. The cumulative loss thai was reclassified from equity 10 profit or loss
was the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortization) and the current fair value, less any impainment
loss recognised previously in profit or loss,

-t L

IF, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt
segurity increased and the increase was related objectively o an event
occurring after e imgairinent Joss was recognised, then the lingarment loss
was reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in far value is
recognised through other comprehensive income. Any subsequent recovery in
the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security was slways
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

If the tzrms of a lnancial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced
with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower then an asscesment is made whether the
financial asset should be derccognised. If the cash flows of the remegoniuted asset are substantially
different, then the contractual rights 10 cash fows from the original financial assct are decmed o have
expired. In this case, the original financial asser is derecognised and the new financial asset is
recognised uf fuir value. The impairment loss before an expected restructuring is measured as follows:

o 7 the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
estimated cash Nows arising From the modified Ninancial asset are included in the mensyrenen
of the existing asset based on (heir expected timing and amwunts discounted s the original
effective intered rate of the exisling financial asset.

o [ the expected restructuring resubls in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair
virlue of the new assel is treated s the final cash Now Mroim the existing Nnancial assel ol the time
of its derscognition, This amount 15 discounted Mrom the expecied date of derecognition o the
reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing Nnmmcial assel.

(k) Basic earnings per share

FPT Capital presents basic eumings per shure [or itz ordinary shares, Busic eamings per shore is
cabeulated by dividing the profit or loss attribuable 10 the ordinary shareholders of the Company by
the weaghted average mmber of eedinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing the prafit or loss attributable to the ordinary
shargholders by the weighted aversge number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period for
the effect of all dilutive polential ordinary shares, which compnse converible bonds. Potential
ordinary shares shall be treated as dilative when, and only when, their conversion to ordinury shores
would decresses earnings per share or increases loss per share. If potential ordinary shares are pot
dilutive, FPT Capital will not disclose diluted eamings per share.

'E’* H"!.DA_

LY

() Equity

(i) Cwrdinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the izsue of ordinary
shares are deducted From the initial méasurement of the ordinary shares.,

fil} Share preweium
On receipt of capital from shareholders, the difference botween the issue price and the par value of
the shares is credited to share premium account in equity

{iii} Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as cquity s purchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly atiributable cosis, net of any 1ax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased sharcs are classified as mreasury shares and are presenied as a deduction from total
equity. When repurchased shares are reissued, the difference between the reissue price and the
purchase price is recorded in share premium.

{iv) Reserves

The Company has established and mammained o momber of reserves in accordance with local
regulations, These reserves are for specific purposes, and allocatzd from net profit after 1ax a
prescribed rates as follows:
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Notes Lo the conselidated linancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued )

*  Reserve to supplement share capital: 5% of profit after (ax reporied in the consolidated financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accouming Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises, Circular Mo, 1257200 1UTT-BTC dated §
September 2011 issued by the Ministry of Finance on promulgation of the accounting system
applicable to fund management companies and the refevant stalulory requirements applicable 1o
financial reporting, and does not exceed the Company”s share capital,

= Financial reserve: 5% of remaining profit after tax reported in the consclidated financial
statements which are prepared in sccordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises, Circular Mo, 125201 VTT-BTC dated 35
September 2011 issued by the Ministry of Finance on promulgation of the sccouming system
applicable (o fund management companies and the relevant statntory requiraments applicable 1o
financial reporting, and does not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital,

(m} Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one pasty has the ability, directly or indirecily, to control the
wther party or exercise significant influence over the other panty in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are atso considered 1o be related if they are subject (o common control oF comiman
significam influence.

Related panies include any entities and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the
voling power of FFT Capital (bt gives them control or significunt influcnce over FPT Capital.

Management and the members of the Board of Directors of FPT Capital and its subsidiaries and close e
members of the family of these individuals and companies astociated with these individuals, also A
constituie related parties, In considering each possible relmed party relationship, atention is directed 4

to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form, "

LY

(n)  Standard issucd but not yet effective §

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for
31 December 20 & reporting periods and huve not been early adopted by FPT Capital. FPT Capital’s
assessment of the impact of these new sandards and interpretafions is set out below,

1FRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces o single, on-balance lease sheet sccounting model for lessees. A lesses recognises
a right of use assel representing its right 10 use the underlying asset and o lease liability representing
its osbligation 1o make lease payments. There are oplional exemptions for shon-term leases and Jeases
of low valug items. Lessor accounting remains similar 1o the current standards — i.e, lessors continue
to classify beases as finance or opersting leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including 1AS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Amangement contains @ Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases = Incentives and S1C-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Légal Form of a Lease.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2019, Early adoption permitted
for entities that apply [FRS 15 Revence from Contructs with Customess ol or before the date of initial
application of IFRS 16.

FPT Capital is assessing the potential impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial
slilemenis,

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected 1o have a material
impact on the FPT Capital in the current or future reporting peniods and on foreseeable fulure
transactions.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

{continued)

5. (Cash and cash equivalents

Demand deposiis
Term deposits with original term to maturity of three
menths or less from the dote of acguisition

6. Fee and other receivables

Fee and other receivables by nature - net amount
Prepaymenis to supplicrs

Fee receivables from portfolio management activities
Other receivables

Fee and other receivables by recoverability
" Ciross amouni
i Impairment

INL018
VNI

2,367,529,755

3,708,023,288

vzaonT
YND

|,593,532,800

4,516,333,333

6,075,553,043 6,109,866,223
L2018 122017
VND YND
128,287,500 .
286,413,891 322,193,634
8,011,003 7,175,000
422,712,484 120,368,634 7
[
[P
1,783,367 506 1,690,023 656 v
(1,360,655,022)  (1,360,655,022) .
422,712,484 320,368,634 =
28
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continued )

7. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31122018
Cuantity Cost Fuir value
VND VND
Listed shares
Hoang Anh Gia Lai Apricultural Taint
Stock Company 747,500 25, 500, 000, 000 11,960,000,000
31220017
Quantity Cost Fair vahe
VND VND
Listed shares
Hoang Anh Gia Lai Agricultural Toint
Stock Company 747,500 28, 500,000,000 7,046, 100,000
8. Other current assets
X208 T
VD VND
Term deposits with original lerm to maturity of more
than 3 months to | year 106,562 065,217 115,271,004, 278
Other current assets 10,00, (00 1100, 000, D00
106, 572,065,217 115,281,004, 278

9. Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2017
represented unlisted securities which have no transactions in aclive markel, The Fuir value
measurement for these equity securities al fair value through olther comprehensive income was
measured gsing unobservable inpuls which were the average reference prices obtained from three
securities companies. These equity securities were disposed during the year ended 31 December 2018,

10. Other non-current assets

Term deposits with term to maturity of more than one
year
Crher non-current assets

IVILZ008 NAX217
VYND VND
40,205,555,556 -
I 16,091 360 116,091,360
40,321,646,916 116,091,360
9
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FFT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continued )

11. Equipment, fixtures and fittings

Fixtures

Year ended 31 December 2018 Equipment and fittings Total

VND VD VD
Cost
Chpening balance 103,208,600 197,190,000 300,398,600
Additions 2(sh, 186,910 - 206,186,910
Closing balance 309,395,510 197, 190,000 506585510
Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 103, 208, 600 1B3.8590,000 287,098,600
Depreciation for the year 51,213,534 7.980,000 50,193,534
Closing balance 154,422,134 191,870,000 346,292,134
Carrying amounts
Opening balance - 13,300,000 13,300,000
Closing balance 154,973,376 5,320,000 160,293,376

Fixtures

Year ended 31 December 2017 Equipment and filtings Total =i

VND VND VND L
Cost &
Opening balance and closing bulance 103,208 600 197, 190,000 300,398, 600 &

' o g

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 103,208,600 147,034,998 230,243,598 f__f
Depreciation for the year - 36,855,002 36,855,002
Closing balance 103,208 600 183,890,000 287,098,600
Opening balance - A0,155,002 50,155,002
Closing balance - 13,300,000 13,3000, 000

Included in the tangible fixed nssets were assets costing WNDI03, 208,600 which were fully
depreciated as of 31 Decernbar 2018 (30/1220017: WVNDIO3 208 600) but are still in active uss.

30
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continuwed )

Other payables
NNV18 izt
VND VND
Advances from customers 1,333,333 333 1,333,333 ,333
Other payables 184,284 916 S46, 004,965
Payables to suppliers 82,500,000 .
Uneamed revenue 257,739,728 183,246,575
1. 857.857.977 2,063,484 873
Share capital

The Company's chartered capital is VNIV 10,000 million which had been fully coniributed. The par
value of share is VNDI0000/share, Shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017 include SBI Ven Heldings Pre. Lid. (49%), FPT Corporation (25%) and other
shareholders. SBI Ven Holdings Ple. Lid. is incorporated in Singapore and FFT Corporation is
incorporated in Viemam.

Fees from other services

2018 2017
YD YD
Fees from advisory activities 1.756,370.454 525,400,000

Loss on disposal of equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

2018 017
YND VND
Loss on disposal of equity securities at fair value through 18,666,888,630
other comprehensive income
k]|
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continued)

16. Other expenses

018 w7
VYND VIND
Office rental 504,532,224 501,253,536
Travelling expenses 191,410,714 253,983,376
Audit fees 165,550,000 165,000, 000
Other expenses 754,323,615 735,398,051
1615816553 1,659,634,903
17. Income taxes
{f)  Income tax recognised in profit or loss
2018 017
YD YND
Current tax expenses
Current year 3070 010,820
Deferred tax expenses
Owrigination and reversal of temporary differences - -
Income tax expense - 307,110,820
(i) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2018 017
VND VD
{LossVprofit before tax (7,727,560,034)  5,714,769,347
Tax using the Company’s tax rate (1,545,512,007) 1,142,953 569
Mon-deductible expenses 88,630,567 81,271,684
Tax loss wtilised = (977,656,029}
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 1, 456,872.440 -
Under-provision of 1ax in prior year - 60,54 1, 706
307,110,820
32
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

(fif) Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits therefrom. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised for the following items:

AL 1M2018 az207
Temporary Temporary
difference Tax value difference Tax value
YND VYND VD YND
Tax losses 11,207 BIE, 656 2,241,563.731 6,166,751.574 1,233,350.315

18. Financial instruments
{a) Financial risk management
(i} Overview
FPT Capital has exposure 1o the following risks arizing from fnancial instraments:
. credit risk
. liquidaty risk
. market risk
This note presents information about FPT Capital’s exposure to cach of the above nisks, FPT Capital's
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and FPT Capital's management

of capital. ?
{ii)  Risk management framework 1

The Board of Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of FPT a

Capital's risk management framework.

FPT Capital's risk management policies are established o identify and analyse the risks faced by FPT :;"

Capital, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor nsks and adbersnce to lmts. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
FPT Capital's activities, FPT Capital, through iis training and managemeni standards and procedures,
aims o develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
undersiand their roles and obligations.

{(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to FFT Capital if & customer or counterparty 1o a financial

instrument fails 1o meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from FPT Capital's
receivables,
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 Deécember 2018
(continued )

(i) Exposure fo credif risk

The carrying amount of finincial assels represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure (o credit risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

Carrying smount
V122018 JzaomT
VD ¥ND

Other receivables - gross 1,783,367 506 1,650,023 656
Cash and cash equivalents 6.075,553.043 fi, 109, 866,223
Term deposits with original term to maturity of more than

3 months 146,767,620,773 115,271,004,278
Other financial assels 126,091,360 126,091,360

154,752,632,082 123,1%60,985,517

(ii) Fee and other receivables

FPT Capatal’s exposure 1o credit risk 15 influenced mainly by the individual charactenstics of each
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of FFT Capital's cusiomer base,
including the defanlt risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these Factors
may have an influence on credit risk.

FPT Capital applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach o measuring expected credut losses which uses
a hfetime expected loss allowance Tor all fee receivables and other receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, fee receivables and other receivables have been grouped hased
on shared credit nisk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this
year, The histerical loss rates are adjusted io reflect current and Forward-looking information an
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers 10 =etile the rece vables.

=

e

Previous accoanting policy for impairment of fee receivables and other receivables

‘-,\\:_:_Pﬁx-u

In the prior year, the impairment of other recervables was assessed bhased on the incarred loss model
by FPT Capital. The main componentis of this allowance are o specific loss component that relates to
individuully significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar
assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance
is determaned based on histoncal dita of payment statistics for similar Dinancial assets,

Impairment losses
The aging of oiher receivables at the end of the reporting period that were not impaired was as follows

312018 3z
YN VD
Meither past due nor impained 422712 484 320,168,634

Fex and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly related 1o a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of defawlt. Management believes that those
receivables are of high credit quality.
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FFT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(continued)

The allowance accounts in respect of fee and other receivables is used to record impairment losses
unless FPT Capital is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the
amounis are considersd imecoverable and are written off against the financial asset direcily,

The aging of fee and other receivables at the end of the reporting period thal were impaired wis as

follows:
MLZ2018 L2017
VND VND
Past due mare than 365 days 1,360,655,022 1,360,655,022

{iwi) Cash af banks and ferm deposils with original ferm fo maturity of more than 3 months

Cash at banks and term deposits are held with banks and financial institutions and represent maximum
credil exposure on these assels,

(¢) Ligquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that FPT Capital will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial Habilites that are setiled by delivenng cash or another financial asset.
FPT Capital's approach 1o managing liquidity 15 to ensure, as fur as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liguidity to meet its habilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurning unacceptable losses or risking damage 1o FPT Capital's reputation.

o e
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continued)

(i) Inierest rate risk

Al the end of the reporting period the interest rate profile of FPT Capital’s imerest-bearing financial
instruments as reporied to the management of FPT Capital was as follows:

I1122018 MAALI0NT
VND VND
Fized rate instruments
Financial assets
Demand deposits 2367529755 1,593,532 890
Term deposits 150,475,644,061 119, 787,337,611

1532,843,173.816 121,380,870,501

Sensitivity analysis for fived rafe insirimens

FPFT Capital does not account for any fized rate financial ossets and liabilities a1 fair value through
profit or loss. Therefore o change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not afTect
profit or loss.

A change of 100 basis points in intenest rates would have increosed or decreased profitv{loss) after
tax by VNDI 222 745,391 (2017: VNDOTI 046,964). This analysis assumes that all other variahles,
in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

(ifi}  Equity price risk ﬁ
FPT Capital's exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investinents held by FPT Capital f
and classified in the consolidated ststement of financial position either as an fair value through other RAL
comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss. Managemem of FPT Capatal momitors
equity securities in its investment ponfolio based on market indices, Material securities within the W
portfolio are managed on an individial basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by FFT ol

Capital’s management,

FFT Capital attempd 1o limit its risks through a number of strategies. FPT Capital practice portfolio
diversification, and have adopled a range of appropriate investment restrictions and policies.

As 1] December 2018, the market valoe of FPT Capital's listed equity securities was
WND 1, D0,000,000 (31122017 VNDT 146, 100,000). Had the market prices of these securities
decreased or increased by 7% o at 31 December 2018, assuming that all other variables remain
constunt, net loss of FPT Capital for the year would have increased or decreased by W NDGED, 760,000
(NINT: the profit afler tax and owners’ equity would have decreased or increased by
VD00, 181, 600).

L
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{continwed)

(b}  Fair value hierarchy

The fair values of financial asseis and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based
on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instroments, FFT Capital
determines fair values using other valuation technigues.

For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less
objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration,
uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrament.

The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hicrarchy, which reflects the
sigmificance of the inputs used in making the measurements,

. Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments,

. Level 2: inputs ciher than quoted prices included within Level | that are observable either
directly (1.e. as prices) or indirectly (ie. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quated prices for identical or similar instruiments in markets that are considersd less than active;
or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly obhservable
from markel data.

* Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs not hased on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant cffect on the instrument's valuation, This category includes instruments that
are valued based on quoted prices for similar instroments for which significant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments,

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with g
similar instruments for which market observable prices exist. N
The ehjective of valuation iechniques is to armrive o a fair value measwrement thal reflects the price W
that would be received to sell the assel or paid 1o transfer the habality in an orderly transaction i

between market participants al the measurement date.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continued)

FPT Telecom Joint Stock Company
{Ovher related company)

Receipt of entrusted ivestments
Recervables from entrostment fees

FPT Online Services Joint Stock Company
{Diher related company)

Receipt of entrusted investments

Receivables from entrustment fees

FPT Investment Company Limited
{Ovher related company)

Receipt of entrusted investments
Oleer payables

FPT Joint Stock Company

{Parent company)
Receivables from entrastment lees

FPT Telecom Joint Stock Company
(Other related company)

Income from entrustment fees

FPT Online Services Joint Stock Company
(Other related company)
Income from entrustment fees

FPT Investment Company Limited
[Ohther related company)
Income from entrustment fees

General Director
Salary and boaus

Members of the Board of Directors and
Supervisory Roard

Remunerations

20, Significant transactions and balances with related parties

Balance outstanding as at
V12018 nnxzmT
YND VND
6,000,000,000 6,000,000,000
20,000,000 200,000,000
1.850,000,000 1,B50,000,000
20,000,000 20,000,000

B4,275,053,776

960,655,022

84,366,083, 776
87,451,529

060,655,022

Transaction value

2018
YND

20,000,000

20,000,000

310,000,000

152,715,110

1,636,594,710

07
VND

20,000,000

20,000,000

698,224,554

590,508,834

1,552,947,761
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Motes to the consolidated Minancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continued)

21. Lease commitments

Within one year
From two to five years

22. Basic (losses)/earnings per share
{a) Basic (losses)/earnings per share

{i)  Net (loss)profit attributable to ordinary shares

Met (loss)profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Issned ordinary shares at the beginning of the year and

weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year
ended 31 December

(i) Basic (losses)Vearnings per share

Basic (lossez)/eamnings per share {VIND/share)

/122018 Ivi22017
VND VND
IEI.EM,EZT S0 446,400
: 151,826,827
151,826,827 653.272.217
2018 2017
VND VND
(7,727,560,034)  5,407,658,527
2018 2017
Shares Shares
L
i
10,945,000 10,945,000 j
3
2018 2017
(706) 494
43
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FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company
Motes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

(continued)

Diluted earnings per share

At reporting date, the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares, Therefore, diluted
earnings per share was not presented.

Prepared by: ; : . Approved by:
- i ! ] .-"'-.-..
2 :I,ﬁj g =/ coNG TY
Ve [ cOPHAN
<A, M‘“ " QUAN LY Qu¥
Vu Hoai Anh i Thu Mguyet
Accounting Manager iitive Officer

3 June 2019

)
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a
b

1. MaplesFS Limited

1

2019 50,000 5,472

2

2018 2018
2. Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch

1

2019 (Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi
Minh City Branch) 50,800,000 5,559,044

2
3 (Maples Fund Services (Cayman)
Limited)

1

2019 38,795 4,245

2
4.

1

2019 10

2
1. (MaplesFS Limited)
2. Deutsche Bank AG, Ho Chi Minh City Branch
3 (Maples Fund Services (Cayman)

Limited)
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CIMA

3.3 4 3
3.3.1

@ 100,000
(b)

©

() 100,000
(i)
(iii)

» 100,000

(B) 3.3.2 (i) (i)
CIMA MF 4,268
Gii)
CINA
MF4 3,049

4.2 CIMA

CIMA

4.2.5 2018
CIMA
4.4 2006 12 27 2018
CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA

5.1

5.2
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CIMA
48

CIMA
5.4 CIMA

CIMA

4(3)
3.3 4(4) 2.3

5.5 CIMA

o1 o1
o1 o1
(G2

2018

24,390 30,488

1
11 2018

6.1.2

6.1.3 /

6.1.4 2018

€Y
(b)

©
(D)
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2018

CIMA

2018
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1907

2018

2018
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6.3.4

6.3.5
2013

6.3.6

@)
(b)

©
)
2017

. CIMA
7.1 CIMA CIMA
CIMA
7.1
500

CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA
10
CIMA CIMA

7.7 CIMA 7.9
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7.7.4
7.7.5
7.8 7.7
CINA
7.8.1  CINA
7.8.2 CINA
7.8.3
7.8.4  CINA CINA
7.9 7.7 CIMA
7.9.1 4(1) (b) 4(3) 4(3)
7.9.2
7.9.3
7.9.4
7.9.5
7.10 CIMA 7.9 CINA
7.11 CINA
CINA
7.12  7.9.4 7.9.5
CINA CINA
7.13 7.9.5
7.14  7.13
7.15  7.9.4 7.9.5
7.15.1  CIMA CINA CINA
7.15.2 CINA
CINA
CIMA
7.15.3 7.15.2 CINA
CINA
7.16 7.9.4 7.9.5 7.15
CINA CINA
7.17 7.15 CINA
7.17.1  CIMA
7.17.2 2018 94(4)
7.17.3
7.17.4
7.17.5 CINA 7.9.4 7.9.5
7.18 CIMA  7.17
7.9
7.19 CIMA  7.9.1

7.20 7.17.3
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(b) CINA
©
(D
(e) CINA
)
@
(h) CINA

8.9.2 CIMA
8.9.3 CIMA
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P.O. Box 493

Century Yard, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman KY 1-1106
Cayman Islands

Telephone +1 345 949 4800
Fax +1345949 7164
Internet www.kpmg.ky

Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietham Balanced Fund (the “Fund”), a
series trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Fund as at 31 December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “ Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Satements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such interna control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financia statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financia statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professiona
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue
as agoing concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

4 May 2018
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KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72

E6 Pham Hung Road, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietham
+84 (24) 3946 1600/ kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Quadlified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “ FPT Capital”), which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 6 to 38.

In our opinion, except for the effects on the consolidated financial statements of the matter described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of FPT Capital as at 31 December 2017, and of their consolidated
financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRS").

Basisfor QualifiedOpinion

As at 31 December 2017, FPT Capita carried certain investment securities - available-for-sale amounting to
VND44,575,275,000 at fair value but was unable to provide sufficient evidence to support the fair value
measurement for these investment securities. Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves as to such fair
value measurements. As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements for investment securities - available-for-sale, other comprehensive income,
income tax expense and total comprehensive income as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 might have
been necessary.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financia
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the FPT Capital in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Vietham, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 19 which indicates that the comparative information presented as at 31 December 2016
and for the year then ended has been restated. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financia statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going

209/222



EDINETOIOICIC)
Oo00000000000000000000000000000(E27577)
OOo00000000000000000

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or

has no redlistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor' s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financia Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered materid if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We a so:

8§ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

§ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control.

8§ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

§ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we concluded that a material
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosuresin the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

8§ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

§ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within FPT Capital to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

On behaf of KPMG Limited
Vietham
Audit report No.: 15-02-266/4

Truong Vinh Phuc
Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 23 May 2018
210/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

211/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

KPMG
KY1-1106
493
+1 345 949 4800
+1 345 949 7164
o www . kpmg . ky
FPT FPT
2018 12 31
IFRS
2018 12 31
I1SA
IESBA
1ESBA

IFRS

212/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1SA

I1SA

213/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

KPMG

2019 15

214/222



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0ooDo0ooDOo00oo0ooo0ooooonoogoE?27s77)
Ooooooooooooooooooad
KPMG

P.O. Box 493

SIX Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY 1-1106
Cayman Islands

Telephone +1 345 949 4800
Fax +1345949 7164
Internet www.kpmg.ky

Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of New-S FPT Capital Trust Vietnam Balanced Fund (the “Fund”), a
series trust of New-S FPT Capital Trust, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financia statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Fund as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code") together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.
Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAswill always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professiona
skepticism throughout the audit. We a so:

| Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
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appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

| Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

| Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

| Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

| Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

15 May 2019
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KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72

E6 Pham Hung Road, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietham
+84 (24) 3946 1600/ kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Shareholders
FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FPT Fund Management Joint Stock Company (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “FPT Capital”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financia position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on
pages 6 to 44.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of FPT Capital as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As described in Note 9to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income amounting to VND44,575,275,000 as at 31 December 2017 was measured
using unobservable inputs which were the average reference prices obtained from three securities companies. We
were unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether such average priceis representative of the fair value. As aresult, we
were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the reported amounts of equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income and fair value reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2017, and net changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended and
loss on disposa of equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018. This matter
caused us to modify our opinion on FPT Capital’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017. Our opinion for the current year's consolidated financia statements is also modified because of
possible effects of this matter on the current year's financia statements including comparative information.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS™). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of FPT Capital in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Vietnam, and we have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
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error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing FPT Capita’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate FPT Capital or to cease operations, or
has no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing FPT Capital’s financia reporting process.
Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAswill always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individualy or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professiona judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We a so:

8 ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

8§ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of FPT
Capitad’s internal control.

§ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

8 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on FPT Capital’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future
events or conditions may cause FPT Capital to cease to continue as a going concern.

§ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

8 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within FPT Capital to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

On behaf of KPMG Limited
Vietham
Audit report No. 15-02-00266-19-3
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Wang Toon Kim
Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 3 June 2019
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